Regional Planning in Alberta:

Examining a Collaborative Planning Process in the South Saskatchewan Region

Madeleine Baldwin Supervised Research Project: Master of Urban Planning Supervisor: Dr. Madhav Badami October 1, 2012



Suburban Development in Lethbridge Alberta Source: Author's own

Acknowledgements

First, thank you to my Supervisor Madhav Badami for guidance throughout my Supervised Research Project, for asking the right questions and for providing insightful comments on my research. Thank you also to my second reader Ray Tomalty, who provided critical comments to improve my paper under a pressing deadline. Thank you sincerely to the regional planning stakeholders who took the time to answer my questions so openly. Thank you to Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) and the McGill School of Urban Planning for their generous financial support. Thank you to my McGill Urban Planning cohort for staying up late with me in the lab, for laughing, and suffering and learning with me. Thank you to my mother, Mara Baldwin, for the supportive phone calls and the perfect front porch writing space. Thank you to my father, David Baldwin, for his intelligence and editing provess. Finally, thank you always to Michael Granzow for being a sounding board for my ideas, a cheerleader when I need support and a partner in all my life's endeavors.

Abstract page holder

In 2009 the Government of Alberta released the Land-use Framework, the province's most recent iteration of regional planning. The new approach focuses on a collaborative, consultative process and an integration of all factors that affect land use and the environment. The majority of research on collaborative, integrated planning comes from the environmental management sector. As resource management and urban and rural planning coalesce in regional planning, more attention must be given to researching the challenges and opportunities of collaborative, consensus based approaches to land use planning. To this end my research addresses two primary questions: what elements are needed for a successful, collaborative regional planning process, and what broad challenges affect regional planning in Alberta. For my research, I analyzed provincial policy, stakeholder letters and regional planning documents. In addition, I conducted several interviews with members of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council and the Alberta Environmental Network. Findings can be grouped into two general categories. First, a successful stakeholder planning process is determined by the transparency and resources of all actors, the quality and exchange of information in meetings and the ability to reach consensus. Second, decision makers in Alberta must contend with the ongoing tensions between rural and urban as well as environmental and development interests to make a plan that is implementable.

En 2009, le gouvernement d'Alberta a divulgué le *Land-use Framework*, l'itération provinciale la plus récente concernant l'aménagement régional. La nouvelle approche met l'emphase sur un processus collaboratif et consultatif et une intégration de tous les facteurs affectant l'aménagement du territoire et l'environnement. La majorité des recherches concernant la planification collaborative et intégrée proviennent du secteur de la gestion environnementale. Puisque la gestion des ressources et de l'aménagement urbain et rural s'unissent dans la planification régionale, il faut accorder davantage attention à la recherche des défis et des opportunités liés aux approches collaboratives et fondées sur un consensus. Pour ce faire, ma recherche s'adresse à

deux questions principales: Quels sont les éléments nécessaires afin de parvenir au succès d'un processus collaboratif de planification régionale, et quels grands enjeux affectent la planification régionale en Alberta? Pour ma recherche, la politique provinciale, des lettres d'acteurs concernés ainsi que des documents de planification régionale ont été analysés. En outre, j'ai mené plusieurs entrevues avec des membres du 'South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council' et 'Alberta Environmental Network'. Les données peuvent être regroupées en deux catégories. Premièrement, le succès du processus de planification est déterminé par la transparence et ressources de tous les membres impliqués, la qualité et l'échange d'information lors des rencontres et la capacité de parvenir à un consensus. Deuxièmement, les décisionnaires de l'Alberta doivent faire face aux tensions continues entre les intérêts ruraux et urbains ainsi que ceux de l'environnement et du développement pour en arriver à un plan applicable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: Introduction	8
1.1 Research Context and Questions	8
1.2 Research Methods	11
CHAPTER 2: History of Regional Planning	19
2.1 Defining Regional Planning	19
2.2 Early Experiences with Integrated Resource Planning	19
2.3 Alberta Regional Planning Commissions	22
2.4 A Summary of Regional Planning Trends	26
CHAPTER 3: Successful Collaborative Planning	29
3.1 The Evolution of Participation in Planning	29
3.2 Defining the Participants and the Process	31
3.3 Ensuring Adequate Stakeholder Resources	34
3.4 Chapter Summary	36
CHAPTER 4: Policy Context and Description of the Region	39
4.1 Alberta's Water for Life Strategy	39
4.2 Alberta's Land-use Framework	45
4.3 General Context of the South Saskatchewan Region	52
4.4 Water Conditions in the South Saskatchewan Region	56
CHAPTER 5: Council Advice	60
5.1 South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council Mandate	60
5.2 Regional Advisory Council Recommendations	63
CHAPTER 6: Analysis of the Stakeholder Council Process	70
6.1 Selection of Council Members	70
6.2 Ensuring Equitable Access to Resources	73

6.3 Planning Mandate and Flow of Information	75
6.4 Reaching Consensus	79
6.5 Chapter Summary	81
CHAPTER 7: Analysis of Substantive Themes	84
7.1 Local Autonomy and Rural-Urban Dynamics	84
7.2 Environmental and Economic Balance	88
7.3 Water Management and Regional Planning	93
7.4 Implementation Challenges	96
7.5 Chapter Summary	100
CHAPTER 8: Conclusion	102
REFERENCE LIST	108

LIST OF FIGURES

- Fig. 1: Water for Life Strategy
- Fig. 2: Alberta's Watershed Planning and Advisory Council Boundaries
- Fig. 3: Alberta's Planning Regions
- Fig. 4: Regional Planning Process
- Fig. 5: The South Saskatchewan Region

CHAPTER 1 : Introduction

1.1 Research Context and Question

In 2006, after 11 years without formalized regional planning, the Government of Alberta met with stakeholders and the public to formulate a new framework for guiding land use decisions in the province. What emerged were the Land Use Framework and the Land Stewardship Act, which divides the province into seven regions and provides guidelines for the development of regional plans. This new regional focus is part of a growing awareness in Alberta, as well as across Canada, about the importance of balancing economic growth with environmental guality and social equity. However, regional planning has long been a part of provincial legislation. The first Regional Planning Commissions in Alberta were established in the 1950s. For over three decades a regional perspective was an integral and required part of the planning landscape in Alberta, but it was followed in 1995 by the Municipal Government Act. The Municipal Government Act devolved power to municipalities and decreased the province's capacity to make regional decisions about development (Ghitter & Smart, 2008). Since the mid-1990s regional planning has existed in Alberta in a voluntary, ad hoc state. The Government of Alberta returned to a provincially lead regional planning process in order to coordinate decision making among multiple users and across overlapping jurisdictions.

Two main influences frame the province's current approach to regional planning. First, part of the impetus for regional planning is a concern over water management in Alberta and the seven regions are based on watershed boundaries. The supply and quality of water is the most important determining factor in how much the province can grow, however, water has only recently been considered in an overarching manner by the province. In 2003 the Government of Alberta released a unified strategy for water management, entitled Water for Life, which outlines three levels of water management partnerships from the provincial to the local. Although water management is a separate process in Alberta from land use planning, regional planning in the province is meant to support Water for Life efforts and make land use decisions based on the cumulative effects of actions on land, air and water.

Second, the creators of the new regional planning process are cognizant of the trend towards increased public and stakeholder participation in land use decisions. Regional planning in Canada, and around the world, is shifting from a focus on formal government, central control and strict guidelines, to a process that is more informal, network based, and collaborative, involving a greater diversity of actors (Herrschel & Newman, 2002). In both the Water for Life strategy and the Land-use Framework the province is aiming for more stakeholder input in decision making. However, a multiplicity of stakeholders and values can result in a difficult decision making process. This difficulty is further increased by the simple fact that the boundaries of regions cut across the political boundaries of municipalities and the boundaries of First Nation reserves.

The focus of this study, The South Saskatchewan Region, includes the City of Calgary and multiple rural municipalities and is one of the province's high priority areas for developing a regional plan. The area has the majority of Alberta's agricultural land, as well every other type of economic land use present in the province. The region is home to large irrigation districts, varied rural communities, Alberta's fastest growing city, unique and threatened ecosystems and well trafficked natural recreation areas. Furthermore, the South Saskatchewan Region is the most water stressed area of the province with no new water allocations allowed for most river basins in the region. The demand for water is high, and the diversity of users in need of water is great. The South Saskatchewan region planning process provides an ideal case for examining collaborative decision making on land use and water in an area with multiple competing uses.

My aim is to explain some of the complexity of regional planning in Southern Alberta and determine what elements are needed for a successful process. This study is exploratory because the Land-use Framework in Alberta is so new. At this point the regional planning process can not be compared with implementation success or even an evaluation of the final plan, which, as of September, 2012, has yet to be released. Instead I focus on the consensus based stakeholder group the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, which met during 2010 to create a document providing advice to the Government of Alberta on the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Through analysis of the Advisory Council, and the document they produced, I have answered the research question what elements are needed for a successful, collaborative regional planning process? I further answer the question, what are the main challenges to regional planning in the province? Although this research is focused on land use planning, water management will be referenced throughout because of the integrated nature of Southern Alberta's land use and water problems, and because of the similarity between collaborative environmental consensus groups and regional advisory groups.

A number of clear trends across disciplines explain the need to understand how regional planning, stakeholder involvement, and water management play out in a specific case. First both the planning field and the environmental management field have recognized the value and need for involving stakeholders and the public in how decisions are made and for embracing grass roots rather than top down approaches to management (Hodge & Robinson, 2001; Huitema, Mostert, Egas, Moellenkamp, & Pahl-Wostl, 2009; Jackson, 2001; Margerum, 1999). Second, the region has become an important scale at which to make decisions about resources, the environment and future growth in Canada. Regional boundaries usually align more closely with landscape features, such as watersheds. Regions also resonate with inhabitants more than the provincial scale. Finally, sustainability has become the major discourse of planning and requires that decision makers mediate between multiple interests, such as developers, environmentalists, and farmers, to ensure positive social, environmental and economic outcomes.

In order to provide context this paper begins broadly in Chapter two with an overview of the history of regional planning in Canada and Alberta. In Chapter three I discuss participation in planning and what can be learned from collaborative environmental management approaches. Chapter four explains the current water management and regional planning process in Alberta. In Chapter five I provide an overview of the South Saskatchewan Region. In Chapter six I analyze my interview results to examine the details of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council process. In Chapter 7 I use interview data and comments from Albertan organizations

to describe broader challenges of regional planning in the province. In Chapter 8 I summarize my research findings.

At this pivotal moment in Alberta's regional planning history, we need to assess the process by which regional decisions are made, stakeholders are consulted and conflicts between different interests are addressed. A regional planning process must be equitable and practical for a regional plan of any worth to be produced. The health of Alberta's watersheds, and the sustainability of the province's social, economic and environmental assets depend on it.

1.2 Research Methods

My interest in regional planning stemmed from a simple curiosity about how decisions are made at a scale that resonates with geographic features, but is outside of standard municipal and provincial jurisdictions. While there are a multitude of ways to study regional planning, I chose to focus on the process of stakeholder involvement in regional planning in a specific area. This methods section will outline how I chose my case study and research questions and the methods I used. Throughout the discussion of my methods I will identify the limitations of my research.

Because regional planning is so varied I knew I needed to find a particular place to examine in order to conduct a meaningful analysis of regional planning processes. I chose Southern Alberta first and foremost because I am very familiar with the area. My familiarity helped with my research in practical ways. I grew up in Lethbridge, Alberta and therefore have accumulated knowledge of the landscape and people of the region. I also chose Alberta as the site of my research because I am very interested in understanding features of the political and natural landscape that I grew up with in a more academic and professional context. A final reason for choosing Alberta is because the province is instituting a new regional planning framework after over ten years without organized regional planning. The start of a new planning process is an intriguing phenomenon to study and much can be gained from studying the process at its inception. Regional planning does not end with a finished product, but rather is a process of making decisions and managing land uses. Regional planning will change over time in the province and it is therefore very useful to have some analysis and record of how Alberta's most recent regional planning initiative began. Hopefully future studies will build on my preliminary research to understand how regional planning is changing in the province and the implications these changes have on sustainable development and planning processes.

My choice of Southern Alberta as a study site greatly informed my research questions. Water quantity and quality is a serious concern in the region and is a major focus of regional planning efforts in the area. Just like regional planning, water management impacts all types of land use and all sectors of the economy. Alberta's recent creation of a provincial water strategy, Water for Life, allowed me to examine the interaction between water policy and regional planning policy. In both water management and regional planning the government of Alberta is embracing a more collaborative and consensus-based approach to decision making. My research questions focused on the province's new direction in planning processes. This focus led me to qualitative, rather than quantitative methods of gathering and analyzing data.

Qualitative methods suited my research for practical and personal reasons. First, because Alberta's regional planning process is in such an early stage, there is little quantitative data to work from and little could be learned about the planning process by focusing on numbers. Qualitative research on the other hand focuses on words and text and the experiences of people and the meaning they attach to those experiences (Hesse-Biber & Leavy, 2011). Because I was interested in looking at regional planning from a perspective of studying institutions and politics, rather than just the content of plans that are produced, qualitative research provided the best opportunity to ask "how" and "why" questions rather than merely "what" or "when" questions. Qualitative research suited the preliminary nature of my research, where I was trying to understand a new planning process in the province that has not been examined before. I am also more comfortable working with qualitative methods and find the data gathered from interviews to be very rich for studying planning processes.

In order to understand the regional planning process I decided on two main methods of analysis: examination of policies and reports and semi-structured interviews. There were three main categories of documents I used for my research: government

12

policy documents, letters and reports by organizations, and provincial summaries of public consultations. I also looked at documents pertaining to the Water for Life Strategy, beginning with an explanation of how the system of watershed groups is meant to function. The Alberta Water Council produced two reports that looked particularly at the problems of shared governance and communication between watershed groups. I focused on these reports because I was interested in understanding the process of making decisions and negotiating consensus.

Careful reading of regional planning policy and advice documents, as produced by the Province of Alberta and the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, answered the questions of why coordinated planning in the region is needed, how regional planning is meant to proceed in Alberta, and what problems are a priority in the South Saskatchewan region. I started by examining the Alberta Land Stewardship Act, which provides the legislative framework for regional planning in the province. I also looked at pages devoted to regional planning on the Government of Alberta website. Descriptions of the Land-use Framework on the province's website demonstrated how the province explained the process of regional planning to the public, in contrast to the legal jargon of the Land Stewardship Act. Government webpages also defined concepts like Cumulative Effects Management that were not fully explained in more formal government documents. Specifically for the South Saskatchewan Region I examined three documents written by the Government of Alberta and the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council: a profile of the region, a description of the terms of reference and the SSRAC's final advice to the government. The final advice of the SSRAC was a key document for my research. The SSRAC's advice to the government was fundamental to my analysis because it was the document commented on by organizations and the public and because I was able to relate comments by the Regional Council Members about the planning process to the advice outcomes.

I turned to reports and letters by organizations in Southern Alberta to glean more views on the regional planning process in the province. The Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties, the Alberta Wilderness Association, the Southern Alberta Land Trust Society, the Western Stock Growers Association, the Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative, the City of Calgary, the Environmental Law Center and the Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society all provided valuable comments on the regional planning process in Southern Alberta. I relied on letters by organizations that were accessible on the internet. There may be other other organizations and sectors who expressed written opinions on regional planning that I was not able to access. Most letters were by organizations representing environmental and rural interests. An industry perspective is missing from these letters and reports. A potential reason is because many industries, particularly oil and gas development, have a great deal of political leverage and deal directly with the provincial government, making the need for letter writing redundant. It could also be that the industry sector chose to keep their comments on regional planning processes private and not post their comments on the internet. Further research and interviews could better illuminate industries' perspective on the SSRAC's advice.

A final source of documents for analysis, was reports written by the province summarizing input from public consultations. I was able to examine summaries of public and stakeholder input from both the South Saskatchewan and the Lower Athabasca regions. Summaries of public input, although written by government officials, provide a balance to the view points of specific organizations and individuals from the SSRAC that I interviewed. It is vital to recognize that there is no 'one public' but rather a multiplicity of views, interests and opinions expressed at public consultations. Conducting a public survey about opinions on regional planning in Southern Alberta would be very valuable, but was outside of the scope of my research and I therefore had to rely on government documents. Despite the diversity of the public, there are clear majority opinions and trends found in the documents on public input. I mainly focused on representing public opinions from input summaries that were undisputedly widely held, such as the view that conservation and environment should be better represented in land use decisions. Documents and reports could only provide a description of how regional planning was supposed to occur and what regional objectives were produced by the Regional Council. To find out the intricacies of consensus based decision making I needed to speak with the individuals directly involved in the regional planning process. There are three aspects of my interview method to discuss: how I chose interview subjects, how I interviewed them and how I used the interview results.

14

I chose my interview subjects based on a list of South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council (SSRAC) members that is publicly available. I focused on interviewing RAC members because the SSRAC is a consensus-based stakeholder group, which is a new aspect of the regional planning process that I was interested in exploring. There were 18 SSRAC members, which were too many for me to interview in the scope of the project. I chose SSRAC members to interview based on achieving representation from every sector including environment, industry, municipal, agriculture and First Nations. I also tried to pick interview subjects that might have some knowledge on water management and the Water for Life strategy so that they could speak to how water management and regional planning were integrated. In total I interviewed nine individuals from the following organizations: Alberta Irrigation Projects, Tsuu T'ina Nation, Ducks Unlimited Canada, Alberta Wilderness Association, Water Matters Society of Alberta, Sustainability Resources Ltd., the Municipal District of Foothills, the Provincial Policy and Environment Department and Suncor Energy. Before beginning interviews I received ethics approval from the McGill Research Ethics Board. All my interviews were confidential and throughout the report I use pseudonyms when quoting or paraphrasing interviewees' comments.

I originally intended to interview individuals outside of the SSRAC who were also involved in regional planning or water management. I wanted to speak to individuals from ranching and farming organizations, environmental organizations, and First Nations groups, and other stakeholders who deal with land use and resource issues in Southern Alberta. Unfortunately the only individuals who responded to my request for interviews were two members of different environmental organizations. At first I thought including these two interview subjects would result in over-representation of the environmental perspective. I decided to include these interviews in my analysis for three reasons. They had valuable insight not held by my other interview subjects, which supported and enriched the data. For example one environmental representative I interviewed has been involved in environmental and regional initiatives in the province for forty years. She was one of my only interview subjects who had first hand experience with Alberta's past regional planning efforts before 1995. Second, I became less concerned with an environmental bias after viewing all public input documents. It was abundantly clear that stakeholders and the public were in favour of more focus on environmental health. My analysis fairly represented the perspectives of the public, stakeholders and environmental representatives. Lastly, the environmental perspective, though very vocal, is generally under-represented politically in Alberta and is a challenge to the status quo. Focusing my research on the knowledge and opinions of actors in the environmental sector counter-balances the long held bias in decision making towards economic interests.

Unlike the environmental sector, First Nations' perspectives were underrepresented in my research. I was unable to locate another First Nation individual involved in water management or regional planning to interview. I accepted that the problem of First Nation representation in water management and regional decision making was outside of the scope of my project because it required an additional literature review and more involved techniques for locating interview subjects. Future research should take on the topic of First Nations involvement in regional planning in greater detail.

An open ended, semi-structured interview technique worked well for my research. This style allowed me to ensure I was covering all the themes of my research, while also allowing the interviewee to direct the conversation and introduce topics I may not have asked about. I initially developed a set of 15 questions based on the major themes of my research. These questions worked well for the first few interviews, but I then had to adjust them depending on who I was interviewing. In later interviews I became more focused in my discussion and eliminated some of the context questions that elicited the same responses from all interview subjects. As a result of this change in questioning technique, later interviews produced richer data and I ended up citing from these interviews more often in my analysis. All of my interviews were conducted over the telephone, which could be perceived as a limitation. Unlike interviews conducted in person, I was unable to read the facial expressions or body movements of my interview subjects. Non-verbal cues often enhance the verbal part of an interview. Fortunately, I found telephone interviews less problematic than I assumed they would be. My interview subjects held positions of responsibility and authority in their respective

sectors. They were very articulate and comfortable speaking about regional planning and water management processes.

The only major difficulty was knowing whether interview subjects were still thinking about an answer or had completed answering when there were moments of silence. After the first couple of interviews I learned to allow more space between interviewee responses and my next questions. Often interviewees would continue speaking after a pause and it was necessary for me to embrace the moments of silence and allow the interview to progress at a less hurried rate. A larger problem with my interviews is that I asked respondents to comment on a process that happened in the past. The SSRAC has been disbanded for over a year and therefore interviewees had difficulty recalling past meetings. There was one advantage though to interviewing Council members after completion of SSRAC meetings. Since some time had past, interviewees were able to reflect on their experiences without being hindered by strong emotions that may have affected them right after particular meetings. Their comments reflected a look back at the entirety of the regional planning process thus far.

I used interview data in two ways: to discuss specific elements of the planning process and to identify broader dynamics of regional planning. There are fewer problems with mis-representing interviewees words when writing about specific aspects of the planning process, such as how information was presented or how Council members were selected. There is more of my interpretation of the data when I write about broader regional planning themes such as rural versus urban tensions or ensuring government capacity. It is important to note that I am an actor in my own research. I play an active role in creating the narrative of this research and experiences of interview subjects can be understood as twice interpreted. Interview subjects themselves construct a particular meaning from their experiences that may be quite different from what I would have seen if I had done direct observation of Regional Advisory Council meetings. Secondly I construct meaning from the responses of interviewees and provide my own interpretation and analysis. Most of my interpretation of both documents and interview transcripts occurred while writing. It is common with qualitative data that analysis and writing occur simultaneously (Silverman & Marvasti, 2008). My written analysis is one of many possible truths and ways of explaining the

17

regional planning process in Southern Alberta. None the less it was rewarding to find than many interviewee comments supported the findings of the literature review. It would be very valuable to conduct a quantitative analysis of regional planning in the future after more regional plans are completed in Alberta. Quantitative data can be just as subjective as qualitative data, but a combination of the two may provide a more robust analysis of regional planning processes.

CHAPTER 2: History

2.1 Defining Regional Planning

Regional planning can take many forms in many sectors, from natural resource management, to service sharing between municipalities, to comprehensive metropolitan growth planning to broad transportation planning. Regional planning in its simplest definition is planning at a large scale, in an attempt to understand and manage a space in a more holistic manner than can be achieved at the local or city level (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Regional planning is also an attempt to achieve balance between interrelated social, physical, economic and environmental factors at a regional scale. Aside from a large scale and a goal of balance and comprehensiveness, regional planning is extremely varied. Over the years regional planning initiatives have been categorized as integrated resource management, strategic regional planning and economic development planning.

Alberta's approach to regional planning is a combination of integrated resource and strategic development planning. The aim of regional plans in Alberta is to address all "development-related activities, opportunities and challenges in [a] region over the long term" (Government of Alberta, 2009b, pg. 3). To understand Alberta's current regional planning effort we must examine a brief history of planning in the Country and the Province. In order to highlight problems that continue to impact Alberta's new regional planning process I will focus first on integrated resource and economic development planning at the federal and provincial level and focus second on the history of provincially lead regional planning in Alberta.

2.2 Early Experiences with Integrated Resource Planning

Regional integrated resource planning can be defined in a general sense as a multi-sector and multidisciplinary approach to planning. By this I mean that integrated planning involves multiple sectors of the government and multiple stakeholders who deal with environmental and development problems. The goal of integrated resource planning is to anticipate and plan for the impacts of development on the entire

environmental system. Furthermore integrated resource planning is often concerned with involving stakeholders, with the understanding that increased public involvement will produce more sustainable plans. Three notable attempts at integrated planning in Canada are the Canadian Commission of Conservation, the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act and the Peace River Regional Planning Commission.

Canada's first regional planning initiatives were influenced by individuals, such as Patrick Geedes and Thomas Adams, and American organizations such as the Regional Planning Association of America and the National Conservation Commission. Mirroring the United States' Conservation Commission, and building on the work done by the Canadian Forestry Convention, the Canadian Commission of Conservation was created in 1909 to address issues concerning forestry, fish and wildlife, water, minerals and fuels, and public health. As Hodge and Robinson (2001) state, the Commission was the first comprehensive effort to manage the environment and land use in Canada. It is notable not just for its work connecting health concerns with town planning, water quality and air pollution, but for its effective communication between multiple agencies. The Commission was disbanded in 1921. The Commission's goal to create an integrated resource management policy for Canada was never achieved as no equivalent agency was ever established. The story of the Commission of Conservation illustrates the importance of having a body that can link departments and create policy that integrates land uses. Hodge and Robinson (2001) argue that integrated land use management rarely happens without the concerted efforts of an agency directly charged with the task. Regional planning in Alberta is striving for integrated land use planning and communication between government departments and stakeholders. However, at this point it is unclear how regional plans and policies will be implemented.

The Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act of 1935 is another example of integrated resource management in Canada's early history of regional planning. The Act was created to provide aid to the drought-hit prairie provinces, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, during the Great Depression. The Act was reactive, not visionary like the Commission of Conservation. The Federal Government implemented soil and water conservation measures and attempted to improve the livelihood of rural residents, sometimes by relocating farmers to more arable sites. Because the Act was meant to deal with drought and its impacts on residents, the planning boundaries were very large and based on geography and social conditions. It was difficult for decision makers to reconcile geographic and social boundaries with existing political boundaries (Hodge, 2004; Hodge & Robinson, 2001). The Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act is still in existence today, although in a smaller capacity. Today the Act focuses solely on rehabilitation of prairie land that experiences drought, and not on resettlement of individuals (Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act, 1985).

The Peace River Regional Planning Commission was also an attempt to integrate land use and environmental planning at a regional level. The Commissions was formed in northwestern Alberta in 1958 to manage forestry, agriculture, and oil, gas and mineral development in the resource rich territory. The Peace River Regional Planning Commission created the first strategic regional plan in Canada. Instead of simply responding to resource development problems, or specifying land use allocations, the Commission focused on developing guiding policies and establishing a process for the Commission and its member municipalities to assess resource and economic development proposals. The Commission was also forward thinking in their inclusion of the public in the regional planning process. In 1965 a comparable Regional Planning Commission was formed in British Columbia for the Peace River Region. However, regional management success was constrained by the lack of communication between the Albertan and British Colombian planning commissions (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Ideally, it was argued, the entire Peace River Region should be managed comprehensively (Robinson & Webster, 1985), but there was no mechanism for joint provincial planning. There was also a lack of attention given to how regional plans in the Peace River area would impact Canadian development as a whole. It remains challenging for regional bodies to coordinate with other provinces or with the Federal Government to achieve strategic goals. Since the 1950s many provinces have attempted to create their own regional planning processes, but there is still little coordination between provinces (Robinson & Webster, 1985).

Integrated regional planning has often been overshadowed in Canada by regional economic development programs. Nowadays, however, integrated planning offers a way to achieve governments commitment to sustainability made by municipal,

21

provincial and federal governments. Of course Alberta's new form of regional planning is constrained by the province's history with Regional Planning Commissions and the legacy they left.

2.3 Alberta Regional Planning Commissions

Although Regional Planning Commissions (RPC) are no longer a part of regional planning in Alberta, many of the dynamics present during the time of RPCs still affect planning in the province. The first regional land use planning agency was created in Winnipeg in 1943, followed by similar agencies in British Columbia and Alberta, but the foundations of regional planning in Alberta go back further. Alberta became a province in 1905 and began regulating private land development processes shortly thereafter. At the time the Alberta government was concerned with rapid provincial growth, an uncoordinated agricultural industry, and an over-concentration of population in the provinces' two major cities, Calgary and Edmonton (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). In order to coordinate planning across the province, the Alberta Housing and Town Planning Association was established in 1911. In 1913 the province adopted the Town Planning Act, which was modeled on the British Housing and Town Planning Act of 1909. The Act was necessary to ensure Calgary and Edmonton had supporting legislation to implement their general city plans (Hulchanski, 1981). The Act also recognized that governments needed to manage urban growth and that this management was a public responsibility, a view of social policy that was held in Alberta until the small government movement in the 1990s (Climenhaga, 1997).

Hulchanski (1981) argues convincingly that regional planning in Alberta follows the economic boom and bust cycles of the province. During boom periods, when the population and the economy were growing in Alberta, there was a congruent surge in the creation and implementation of regional planning measures and other zoning and subdivision regulations and policies. This reactive approach to land use planning was common in other Canadian provinces as well, six of which adopted land use planning legislation during or right after the real estate boom of the early 1900s. Alberta experienced little growth in the years after 1912 so organized government planning was not deemed necessary, and the Town Planning Act was largely forgotten (Climenhaga, 1997; Hulchanski, 1981).

Regional planning did not become a prominent part of the planning landscape until the 1950s. Across Canada the 1950s and 1960s were characterized by a surge in urbanization and co-occurring land use problems (Robinson & Webster, 1985). In 1950 Regional Planning Commissions (RPCs) were included in Alberta's Town and Rural Planning Act. The first RPC was created for the Edmonton region in 1950, followed by a RPC for the Calgary region in 1951. Regional Planning Commissions were established to deal with issues that Alberta's two major cities could not manage independently, such as unorganized fringe developments, municipal financing issues, loss of access to unspoiled countryside, and barriers to economic, industrial and residential expansion (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). For example, the Calgary region was dealing with maintaining good water quality and preservation of agricultural land, which were problems that required cooperation among municipalities (Climenhaga, 1997). In 1963 Regional Planning Commissions (RPCs) were extended to the whole province, with the aim of providing order to land use decisions, making taxation more equitable, and reducing the duplication of infrastructure and service delivery (Ghitter & Smart, 2008).

RPCs were funded mostly by the province, with some contributions from member governments. Each commission was appointed and had a small staff of professional planners. The RPCs had only advisory power and could encourage, but not force municipalities to conform with regional plans. Regional Planning Commissions were charged with preparing, adopting and maintaining regional plans that guided land use and development, and reviewing subdivision applications. The regional plans created by RPCs specified land uses, suggested residential densities, proposed highway development, and delineated public services, schools, and park and recreation areas. An additional function of RPCs was to offer advice and assistance to member municipalities (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). The mandate to offer subdivision planning to all municipalities based on their need, not their ability to pay for services, was a strength of the regional planning system that resulted in a uniform standard of planning services across regions (Climenhaga, 1997).

23

In 1977 regional planning legislation was revised once more in reaction to the economic boom that was starting to occur in the province. The revised legislation recognized local autonomy, encouraged broad participation of the public in the planning process, and designated regional plans as a top document that allowed the province to direct the planning process (Climenhaga, 1997). Regional planning in Alberta had come a long way since 1950. Every region in Alberta had to have a Regional Planning Commission and RPCs had the power of subdivision approval (Ghitter & Smart, 2008). By 1984 ten RPCs existed in Alberta, governing regions with an average area of 30,000 square kilometers of mostly rural development (Hodge & Robinson, 2001).

In keeping with Hulchanski's (1981) assertion that interest in regional planning follows the ups and downs of the economy, regional planning lost traction during the economic downturn of the 1980s. Across Canada public agencies' financial budgets were cut, and there was a growing emphasis on local autonomy (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). However, economic woes were not the only force that threatened the sustainability of regional planning. Rural communities perceived the regional planning authorities as having an urban bias. In Calgary, for example, zones outside the city were put aside for urban growth and no longer open for development by rural municipalities. Urban officials wanted to contain development and rural decision makers wanted to increase subdivisions, resulting in a lack of coordination on land use decisions. A survey of Alberta municipalities in 1980 clearly showed the rural, urban divide. While most urban respondents believed Regional Planning Commissions were doing a good job, most rural respondents thought that the RPCs were too dictatorial and contained an urban membership bias (Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties [AAMDC], 1980). Both urban and rural members had problems with the voting pattern on the RPCs; while rural constituents felt the RPCs were dominated by urban members, urban respondents believed there was a small town rural bias in regional decision making. By the end of the 1990s both rural and urban commission members felt outvoted and isolated within regional planning discussions (Climenhaga, 1997). Rural communities seemed to prevail when regional planning was officially dismantled in 1995 and uncoordinated local development was given full reign.

In the 1980s and 1990s a free enterprise and anti-government philosophy pervaded politics in Alberta. The province, headed by Premier Ralph Klein, viewed ending regional planning as a way to cut spending, while dealing with the growing rural urban tension over land use decisions in the province (Climenhaga, 1997). The 1995 Alberta Municipal Government Act called for devolution of power to local municipalities and emphasized market forces rather than government control. The Municipal Government Act was part of a larger global neoliberal agenda, which emphasized the individual, small government and fiscal constraint (Ghitter & Smart, 2008). All provisions for mandatory and binding regional plans were ended, the Alberta Planning Board was disbanded, and the Alberta Planning Fund was cut (Climenhaga, 1997). Calgary was perhaps most impacted by the cuts to Regional Planning, because the Regional Planning Commission had been paramount in preventing urban sprawl and guiding development in the area (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Formalized regional planning in the province was replaced with voluntary inter-municipal planning, funded by local municipalities (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Seven of Alberta's ten dismantled RPCs created voluntary groups to continue fulfilling some regional planning functions. Many of these voluntary coalitions died, while others, such as the Edmonton Capital Region Alliance, survived (Climenhaga, 1997).

Some people perceived RPCs as too bureaucratic and ineffectual, while others believed RPCs were not given sufficient power by the province to solve land use dilemmas and guide growth (Climenhaga, 1997). However one views it, the end of provincially supported regional planning in Alberta had serious costs for municipalities and the province as a whole. Along with the devolution of power came a downloading of costs to small municipalities that could not afford adequate planning departments. Climenhaga (1997) makes note of a number of problems caused by the cutting of formalized regional planning in Alberta. When municipal costs increased, taxes and development charges rose, which were ultimately paid by new homeowners. Additionally, large scale issues of resource allocation, watershed management and ecosystem health were no longer regularly addressed, and many municipalities refused to talk about regional environmental issues with their neighbours. The land use regulations that followed the end of regional planning were vague and weak, with no process for mediating inter-municipal disputes. Fringe development, always a contentious issue, became even more difficult for municipalities to agree on and many inefficient country residential developments were built in the years following 1995 (Climenhaga, 1997). Although regional planning has continued fitfully in some areas of the province it is now back in a formalized, provincially driven form. The issues that affected regional planning in Canada and Alberta throughout the 20th century will continue to affect planning in the province. A summary of these main challenges follows.

2.4 A Summary of Regional Planning Trends

The success of integrated regional planning initiatives and Regional Planning Commissions in Alberta has been constrained by a lack of institutional basis for regional planning, by the difficulty of sustaining long term commitment to a regional, holistic focus, by the challenges of implementing regional plans, and by friction between rural and urban municipalities.

An undeniable and often complicating factor of regional planning in Canada is that there is no institutional basis for making regional decisions and they must therefore be made between well-entrenched jurisdictions (Hodge, 2004). Often there is not even fundamental understanding of what makes an issue regional or what a regional plan is (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). All regions are mental constructs and can be defined according to the needs of different groups. The boundaries of a region have a large effect on how an area will be managed, as well as on who will be involved and excluded in decision making. Regions can be delineated based on natural or cultural features, understood in terms of a certain policy orientation, or described based on the aspirations for an area (Hodge & Robinson, 2001).

The boundaries assigned for the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act of 1935 corresponded to the important social and physical problems the government wanted to combat, but the physical parameters were difficult to reconcile with existing political boundaries (Hodge, 2004). Furthermore, when there is no regional level of government or legislated body there can be much confusion about who is responsible for making regional decisions. At the municipal level citizens generally view regional policies from the perspective of their local community, which can lead, as it did in Alberta, to local political leaders opposing regional planning because it symbolizes centralization and provincial interference (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Because regions do not have well defined and understood boundaries, and regional planning does not have an established place in government, there will always be some confusion over how regions are governed and much variation in regional planning processes.

A second challenge to sustaining regional planning over the long term, is the difficulty of maintaining political commitment. Regional planning always involves power sharing, often among a range of different actors. The scale of regional planning, and the scope of its impacts, requires various stakeholders be involved. Even if there is little stakeholder participation, regional planning requires coordination among government departments and multiple organizations. Hodge and Robinson (2001) argue that power sharing between multiple groups and individuals is rarely materialized as successful, equitable collaboration. Another concern is ensuring the representativeness of regional councils. Members of Regional Councils are usually municipal politicians who have loyalties to their local constituents and may struggle to take a regional perspective on issues (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Regional planning is conducted in a political context that can greatly affect the success of the planning process. Transparency and accountability are often questioned in regional planning processes (AAMDC, 2011; Government of Alberta, 2010a). Support for regional planning can change with every political election. As was seen with the 1995 Municipal Government Act in Alberta, shifts in government philosophy can completely change the course of regional planning or eliminate it altogether.

Another common challenge in regional planning is that problems are not simple or well understood and this lack of knowledge leads to lack of clarity on how plans should be implemented (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Regional planning policies and actions are notoriously difficult to implement. The difficulty lies in developing an authority to carry out planning and management processes in regions that cross standard political boundaries and structures (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Even regional planning efforts that focus on a particular issue or resource face implementation challenges in communicating who is responsible for what, and in sustaining support and monitoring functions over the long term. For all of the planning power that the Alberta

27

Regional Planning Commissions held in the sixties and seventies, the commissions were not given enough financial resources or much political power to implement the plans they created (Hodge & Robinson, 2001).

A major, and oft-cited, tension in Alberta is the conflict between rural and urban areas over the right to control development and land use decisions (Climenhaga, 1997; Ghitter & Smart, 2008). Hodge and Robinson (2001) argue that the effectiveness and credibility of regional planning initiatives in rural areas is diminished when land is viewed as a commodity or when environmental, economic and land use decisions are not integrated (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). In many cases rural municipalities want more control over the location and pace of development, whereas urban municipalities want to reduce sprawl and decrease the pace of development. In Alberta political power lies in rural areas and the government therefore stands in favour of strong local autonomy (Climenhaga, 1997; Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Autonomy is often a central reason for tension in regional planning and other collaborative management systems. The perception that regional planning infringes on the rights and local autonomy of rural regions is a common sentiment among rural constituents in other countries, such as Germany (Herrschel & Newman, 2002), and resistance to a loss of autonomy also occurs in environmental management planning (Margerum, 2011).

Regional planning today is still affected by the dynamics of rural vs urban interests, the difficulty of obtaining political commitment, and the challenge of implementing plans. Despite the challenges, regional planning initiatives continue because of the large spatial nature of planning problems and the need to fulfill public policy goals that are best achieved at the regional scale (Hodge & Robinson, 2001).

CHAPTER 3: Successful Collaborative Planning

Some of the challenges of regional planning outlined in the previous chapter can be mitigated by a more collaborative planning approach that improves decision making abilities and creates a more responsive, flexible regional planning system. Alberta's new regional planning process differs from past approaches in the level of stakeholder involvement. Although only convening for part of the regional planning process, Regional Advisory Councils are consensus based collaborative groups.

We can gain a deeper understanding of effective planning processes by reviewing the extensive work on collaborative management in the environmental sector. Environmental planning is concerned with natural resources and environmental systems, such as watersheds. Regional planning in Alberta is trying to bring together environmental planning with land use planning. There is currently not enough dialogue between the environmental management and urban planning fields. Decades of collaboration and consensus planning in the environmental and integrated management sector can provide insight into the factors required for a successful regional planning process. In the following sections I will explore the rationale for public participation in planning and examine the literature on collaborative planning and management.

3.1 The Evolution of Participation in Planning

Alberta's current regional planning efforts aim to combine different planning agendas. The designated regions in the province encompass growing urban centers, large rural areas, and major wilderness and natural spaces. Public involvement is also now more explicitly stressed and terms such as governance, stakeholders, collaboration and consensus are becoming more prominent in the planning field. Although not exclusive to environmental management, the environmental planning field has been experimenting with collaborative and co-management planning approaches for decades. Regional planners can gain important insight into how to involve the public meaningfully in decision making and create a successful planning process from the environmental and integrated management sector. We must first ask, though, why is public and stakeholder participation desired in planning processes?

In the past, and to a lesser extent today, the traditional public hearing approach was used for informing the public of planning decisions. Burroughs (1999) argues that public hearings are inaccessible to many people, dominated by narrow interests, and superficial. He also explains that in the worst cases, public hearings end up destroying citizen faith in the planning process or lead to court cases. Since the 1960s there has been a strong discourse about the inherent good of involving the public in planning processes yet actual public participation processes have been criticized for catering only to special interest groups and for serving only bureaucratic functions (Rydin & Pennington, 2000). It cannot be assumed that simply involving the public in the planning process will automatically lead to better results (Burton, Goodlad, & Croft, 2006), or that including a broad range of participants will make for a successful plan (Brody, 2003). Planners and designers of institutional processes need to understand why involving the public is a good idea and what outcomes can be achieved.

We can group the key rationalizations for public participation into two main categories: citizens have a democratic right to have a say in decisions that affect them, and public involvement can improve the outcome of the planning process. Firstly people have a right to be consulted and to have their opinions heard on policy issues (Brody, 2003). This rationale is based on a moral or ethical explanation for public participation. Furthermore, it is assumed that the values and preferences of public participants represent the values and preferences of society as a whole, therefore when the public participates decision making is more legitimate and democratic (Jackson, 2001; Rydin & Pennington, 2000).

Secondly, a more pragmatic rationale is that public participation has the potential to improve policy outcomes. There is a large academic discourse around the importance of local knowledge and expertise in forming higher quality plans (Brody, 2003; Burton et al., 2006; Rydin & Pennington, 2000). It is argued that local knowledge can help decision makers avoid the ill-advised policies associated with centralized planning bodies who do not have as extensive an understanding of the local context or resource conditions (Burton et al., 2006; Rydin & Pennington, 2000). Another major practical advantage for including the public, is that there is more citizen and stakeholder understanding and support for policies, which can mean all the difference to a plan's

long term success. Involving the public helps foster a sense of ownership over issues and policies, which can make implementation much smoother and encourage a network of communication that may be useful for tackling future issues (Brody, 2003). Early and frequent engagement with the public also helps avoid conflicts both during policy creation and implementation (Jackson, 2001; Rydin & Pennington, 2000).

Despite the overwhelming trend in environmental management to involve the public in decision making, there are some disadvantages to greater public participation. The process is more unpredictable and complex and is concurrently difficult to replicate in different contexts (Burroughs, 1999; Burton et al., Goodlad, & Croft, 2006). Brody (2003) identifies a number of frustrations in involving the public or stakeholders in planning processes. Public participation often slows down decision-making, which can be frustrating for all participants. Another concern is that final plans, agreements or policies will be weaker because of the need to balance competing interests, particularly in a consensus process. Decision makers may find themselves having to choose between a higher quality plan, or a plan that is publicly supported. The benefits of involving the public outweigh the negatives, though, and much progress has been made in determining what makes a planning process successful. The following synthesis of literature first considers how to involve the public and define the process, and secondly examines the resources needed for effective, equitable decision making. This synthesis provides the criteria for assessing the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council's success as a collaborative, consensus based group.

3.2 Defining the Participants and the Process

Although used less often in regional planning, stakeholder consensus groups are commonly used in environmental management to create collaborative plans for management resources. Alberta's Regional Advisory Councils can learn from the experience of researchers studying collaborative and integrating environmental management processes. Many of the findings are focused on how stakeholders are chosen and how the process is defined.

Drafting an effective, collaborative decision making system begins with deciding who will, and who will not, be a part of the process. In many environmental

management initiatives, along with more broad public involvement, there is usually an agency or group of key stakeholders created to make decisions or provide advice to decision makers. In Alberta stakeholder councils are created under the Land Use Framework to provide regional planning advice to the provincial government. It is vital to examine who the key stakeholders are and what are the best ways to engage them, rather than simply striving for broad participation in public meetings (Brody, 2003). Burroughs (1999) defines ideal stakeholders as those people who represent a community, are knowledgeable about the management issues under discussion, and empowered to make rational decisions.

It can be difficult to ensure participants in a stakeholder group are equitably selected and representative of the larger population, but when members are selected carefully the process is more legitimate (Burroughs, 1999). Conveners, those who bring stakeholders together, must be viewed as unbiased and trustworthy. This can be difficult when conveners are feared or mistrusted, such as government agencies. Organizers can reduce mistrust by making their objectives clear, stating their commitment to implementation, and providing adequate time and attention to the process (Margerum, 2011). Jackson (2001) argues that stakeholders should not only be groups a planning agency or government wants to include, but anybody who believes themselves to have an interest and stake in the issue. He points out that it is usually groups that were not included from the beginning who express the most dissatisfaction with the planning process. When stakeholders are given the resources and opportunities to participate, their input will be more constructive. If individuals feel themselves excluded from the planning process they may be antagonistic towards planning agencies.

Power and transparency are important factors in stakeholder selection. If there are too many stakeholders and too few places at the table, conveners must establish a criterion for who will participate. People may fear that the process for selecting stakeholders will be based on existing power structures rather than on the need to include the full range of voices and interests in a region (Margerum, 2011). A number of authors have noted the importance of ensuring the most powerless and disadvantaged groups affected by a policy have their interests represented in the planning process (Brody, 2003; Rydin & Pennington, 2000; McGinnis, Woolley, & Gamman, 1999;

Natcher & Hickey, 2002). Yet often the chosen participants already have extensive networks and resources, while community members with poor access to social and cultural resources are excluded. Furthermore, the time commitment and resource involvement required of the process will inevitably create barriers to participation for some people, which is why it is imperative that the broader public is also consulted (Margerum, 2011). There should be incentives for stakeholders to want to be involved (Dinar, Kemper, & Blomquist, 2007) and the cost of participation should be reduced wherever possible (Rydin & Pennington, 2000).

The heterogeneity of stakeholders' world views, opinions and knowledge is a challenge, but is also a source of strength (Agrawal, 2003). Significant differences in attitudes, power, goals and knowledge exist between different organizations and communities (Jones, 1999; Natcher and Hickey, 2002; Dinar et. al., 2007). This plurality means there is a lot of potential for disagreement, but also a wealth of knowledge and experience to share. Resource managers must be conscious of heterogeneity in stakeholder groups and they must represent the diversity of public interests in decision making processes. Clearly not everyone in society will be represented in a planning process but those in charge should continually strive for representation. Hodge and Robinson (2001) add that planners should ask difficult and important questions such as whose interests dominate, should some interests prevail over others, and how will problems between different interests be resolved.

Before deciding who will participate, it is vital to define the boundaries of a region or resource area. Defining an area to be planned and managed is a value based decision that has ramifications on areas that are excluded, as well areas that are included (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Defining an area also has implications on what associations, relationships and partnerships will be created between agencies, organizations, governments and communities (McGinnis et al.; 1999). In general regions defined based on public desires to protect or improve an area usually have more political support then regions that are defined based on large economic networks (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Regions have often been defined based on jurisdictional boundaries, but with the rise of bioregionalism and ecosystem planning regional boundaries more often align with environmental features, such as in Alberta where regional planning boundaries are based on watershed systems. Delineating the boundaries of a river basin or watershed is not just a scientific endeavor, it is also a social and political process (Huitema et. al., 2007; McGinnis et. al., 1999). Watersheds do not often align with jurisdictional boundaries, such as municipal, provincial or reserve borders. Different jurisdictions will have different ways of collecting data, monitoring actions and interacting with stakeholders (Morin and Cantin, 2009). Decision makers need to be aware of the interconnectedness of landscapes and they need to account for how decisions in one region will impact neighbouring regions.

Equally important to an effective process is defining the responsibilities of participants and the key terms used in discussions. A number of authors note the difficulty and challenge of defining key terms such as community, conservation, participation, empowerment and sustainability (Spiro-Mabee & Hoberg, 2006; Western and Wright, 1994). Discrepancies in how groups define terms can lead to unclear objectives, participant frustration, and confusion about implementation (Spiro-Mabee and Hoberg, 2006). Defining the roles of stakeholders in regional planning is another significant challenge. Having unclear definitions of responsibilities is a serious hindrance to resource management (Huitema et. al., 2009). Management bodies must strive for definition and clarity about the scope of the problem; the boundary and authority of stakeholders; how, when and what kind of information will be exchanged; and what process will be used for making decisions (Margerum, 1999). Defining responsibilities and the decision-making process will be specific to the local context, but all stakeholders should communicate with each other about what specific role each is playing. A clearly defined process should allow for flexibility, but in order to reduce conflict and confusion all participation parameters and outcomes should be made clear to organizers and stakeholders (Jackson, 2001).

3.3 Ensuring Adequate Stakeholder Resources

A clearly defined process will fail if there are not sufficient resources committed to the initiative. Hodge and Robinson (2001) note that an agency's capacity for achieving successful regional planning depends on regulatory, financial, political and staff resources and the ability to implement plans. They further state, that the distribution of these resources depends on the political culture of an area, the existing division of areal power, and the local understanding of how much the government or the market should provide services.

Hodge and Robinson (2001) go on to explain that regional planning agencies in charge of resource development are often given considerable resources to carry out planning and implementation. Regional economic planning agencies on the other hand have fewer resources, particularly when it comes to implementation. Similarly, metropolitan and rural planning agencies have few regulatory resources and depend on municipalities or other bodies to implement plans. Organizers need to ensure a balance of resources for a successful planning process. Too often governments give strong regulatory resources to planning agencies but fail to provide the political or implementation resources needed to really see polices and plans put into action.

Time, knowledge and capacity are most often citied as important resources in planning processes. Tomalty et. al. (1994) argue that without a sufficient timeline ecological planning will fail, no matter how well thought out the process is or how many resources are garnered for implementation. They state that without the proper time devoted to a process, participants may feel demoralized and will most likely lose trust in the planning system.

Knowledge is also vital to an effective process. Scientific and technical consultants, moderators and administrators must ensure that stakeholders understand the issues being discussed (Burroughs, 1999). It is also a good idea to create education programs to inform the public on policy issues and participation processes (Rydin & Pennington, 2000). Knowledge exchange must go both ways and organizers and government representatives must acknowledge and include the knowledge of participants in decision making. A number of conservation authors note the importance of validating local knowledge and incorporating it into planning processes (Berkes, 2004; Jones, 1999; Spiro-Mabee & Hoberg, 2006; Brown, 2002). Using local knowledge is not just about gaining the trust of participants. Local knowledge makes a more complete information base, which will result in better management decisions (Berkes, 2004).

A major limitation to collaborative and stakeholder decision making is the need to ensure adequate capacity among all actors (Herrshell & Newman, 2002). Local communities and individuals should be supported and provided with tools for learning, acquiring new skills and communicating with other stakeholders and authorities. Those with less money, time and information will often find themselves underrepresented in the management process and may have difficulty having their concerns and viewpoints heard (Huitema et. al., 2009; Margerum, 1999). A very important component of capacity is networking capital. Margerum (2011) defines networks in the most basic terms as "sets of individuals bound by communication, relationships, positions, and/or interest area" (p. 33). Margerum goes further to identify three kinds of networks: social, interorganizational and political. Social networks are the least formal kind of interaction, which occurs through interpersonal relationships in communities, at work, or with family or friends. Inter-organizational networks are the more formal channels of interaction between organizations and the people involved in them. Political networks are those where people operate within the political system and its power structures, and these networks are established by elected officials, interest groups and policy makers. Access to all these networks is vital for obtaining information, communicating knowledge and view points and participating in decision making. Building social capital is one way to ensure public participation processes actually improve policy outcomes (Rydin & Pennington, 2000). Social capital can build trust between people, provide informal ways of disciplining people for not following management decisions or fulfilling obligations, and connect people with others who may have resources or be able collaborate to achieve planning objectives. Building capacity takes time and it is often difficult to articulate how a government or organization can improve the capital of participants. Creating and enhancing networks of communication and information sharing is the first and perhaps most important step in building capacity among all actors.

3.4 Chapter Summary

The planning context in Canada, as elsewhere, has become more complex. Planners now understand that there is a diversity of publics and a multitude of different interests in the planning process. Involving the public in the planning process can make
decision making slower, more complex and unpredictable. There is also the danger that plans and policies will be weaker because of the need to accommodate multiple interests and reach consensus. Although it is not inherently useful to include the public in planning processes, public and stakeholder involvement is now an integral part of planning. Public participation is desired for two main reasons. First, people have the right to participate in decisions that affect them and this participation makes the planning process more democratic and legitimate. Second, public and stakeholder participation can greatly improve planning outcomes because local knowledge adds vital information to plans, the public is more likely to support policies and plans they have had a hand in creating, and implementation is easier when a network of people are supportive and involved.

Within this environment of increased public participation the soft skills of planners to organize the planning process, and identify who will participate and to what degree, have become increasingly important (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). In this regard the planning field can learn from the environmental management sector, which provide guidelines for a successful planning process. The following factors of success will be used to determine the effectiveness of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council.

To begin with, care must be taken in defining the boundaries of a region, which is a social and political process that affects the people and places that are excluded, as well as included in the region. Planners must be cognizant of how a region interacts with surrounding communities and landscapes. Defining the participants in a planning process is equally difficult. A stakeholder can be anyone that feels she has an interest in the planning region and issues. Conveners, those who create stakeholder groups, must be unbiased and trustworthy to ensure the process of selecting stakeholders is transparent and equitable. It can be very difficult, but it is vital that stakeholders are fairly selected, not chosen based on existing power structures. All participants should be provided with sufficient financial and political resources to be a part of the planning process. Once participants have been selected their roles and responsibilities should be clearly defined and communicated to avoid frustration and confusion. The key terms and parameters of the process must also be clearly defined. If participants hold different

definitions of key concepts, such as watershed, participation or conservation, than the planning process will be frustrating, objectives may be unclear and implementation will be challenging.

The environmental management sector also outlines a number of key resources that are needed to make collaborative planning processes successful. First, planning bodies require sufficient resources. Governments often bestow strong regulatory resources, but insufficient political or implementation resources on planners and stakeholder groups, making it difficult to put plans into action. Second there must be enough time for a planning process to unfold. If the process is rushed the outcomes will be worse and participants may lose faith in the process. Third both scientific and local knowledge should be valued and incorporated into planning decisions. Organizers should be clear about where information is coming from and what knowledge is needed for participants to make informed decisions. Finally stakeholder, government and public capacity is needed for all participants to be able to acquire the skills necessary for analyzing information, and communicating and networking with communities, organizations, policy makers and politicians. Networking can occur through interpersonal connections, through more formal channels within organizations or through political systems. Governments can help build capital by improving the channels of communication, and increasing opportunities for interaction, between government departments, organizations and the public. Now that we have reviewed the literature let's turn to the case study of the South Saskatchewan Region, beginning with an examination of provincial policy.

CHAPTER 4: Policy Context and Description of the Region

The elements of a successful collaborative planning process, as outlined by the environmental management sector, will be used as a guide to examine the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council. First, though, I will outline the context for regional planning in Alberta, which is informed by two main planning processes, Alberta's Water for Life Strategy and the province's Land-use Framework. Alberta's water management strategy uses a collaborative and consensus based approach to solve water management problems. The Land-use Framework lays out the rationale and parameters of regional planning in the province. Aside from this policy context, it is also vital to look at the South Saskatchewan region; what industries, ecosystems and types of municipalities are present and how water resources affect planning in the region. With this context in hand it will be easier to understand and asses the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council's success as a collaborative group and their success at producing an advice document that addresses development and environmental concerns in the region.

4.1 Alberta's Water for Life Strategy

Alberta's new regional planning process really began with the creation of a provincial water strategy; water management and regional planning are closely connected in the province. The Water for Life strategy was born out of a serious multi-year drought in the early 2000s, which raised major concern about Alberta's water supply (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). The provincial government held public consultations and created a provincial water strategy in 2003, which was updated and renewed in 2008. The strategy commits the government to investing in knowledge, research and technology to find solutions to Alberta's water challenges; developing multiple partnerships at different levels, with all stakeholders, to manage water; and encouraging conservation measures by industry that would significantly increase Alberta's water productivity (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). The Water for Life Strategy outlines three main goals: safe and secure drinking water, healthy aquatic ecosystems, and reliable, quality water supplies for a sustainable economy (Alberta Environment, 2003). To understand

the Water for Life strategy we must examine the governance structure, the partnerships created and the communication networks required for a successful, collaborative water management process.

Taking a cue from the increasing emphasis on local solutions in planning and management, the Water for Life Strategy moves away from centralized resource management in favour of working with local communities. The strategy outlines three kinds of groups who will work for watershed health: the Alberta Water Council, Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils and Watershed Stewardship Groups.

Berzins, Harrison and Watson (2006) provide a clear description of the three watershed partnerships. First, the Alberta Water Council (AWC) is a provincial multistakeholder body established in 2004. It consists of 25 representatives, including representatives from six provincial government ministries. Their mandate is to build economic incentives and market instruments for water management, develop tools that support a consultative framework of management across the province, and coordinate multiple levels of government and agencies across jurisdictions to resolve policy and law issues pertaining to water management. Second, Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils (WPACs) are established for each watershed in the province and are in charge of comprehensive water management plans that fit within First Nations, federal, provincial, and municipal regulations, policies and agreements (Figure 2). Lastly, Watershed Stewardship Groups (WSG) are voluntary groups that work at a more local level to find ways to improve the health of specific watersheds (Berzins et al., 2006). There are 11 regional Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils, over 140 Watershed Stewardship Groups and over 1000 Albertans working in Water for Life partnerships (Alberta Water Council, 2011).

The Alberta Water Council (2007) notes that the Water for Life strategy is based on the principle that water management challenges can only be meet effectively by sharing responsibility among Water for Life partnerships, municipal and federal governments, industry, environmental organizations and First Nations communities (Figure 1). Water for Life partnerships are meant to offer multiple benefits, including creating opportunities for innovation through sharing, integrating competing interests to diminish redundancy and conflict, allowing public and private sectors to collaborate, and fostering empowerment and greater environmental responsibility among all stakeholders (Berzins et al., 2006). Stakeholder involvement also encourages those most directly affected by local water issues to get involved in water management and help find solutions (Berzins et al., 2006).



Figure 1: Water for Life Strategy

Adapted from: Alberta Water Council. (2011). Moving from words to actions: Recommendations to improve communication, coordination and collaboration between and among Water for Life partnerships. Retrieved from Alberta Water Council website: http://www.albertawatercouncil.ca/Projects/MovingfromWordstoActions/tabid/ 133/Default.aspx



Figure 2: Alberta's Watershed Planning and Advisory Council Boundaries

Source: Government of Alberta. (2011). *Alberta's Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Water for Life website: http://www.waterforlife.alberta.ca/01261.html

In their 2007 report, the Alberta Water Council defined the terms and requirements for shared governance in water management. The Alberta Water Council recognizes that defining the shared governance model is necessary for water management strategies to be implemented with a unified direction and vision across the province. The Council defines shared governance as a structure where stakeholders share responsibility with government legislative accountability, and a process where goal setting and problem solving is based on trust and communication. Shared governance must include clearly defined roles and responsibilities, accountability among all partners for the decisions they make, and protection of broad public interests. The Alberta Water Council (2007) also state that a shared governance model must be supported by government organization and sustainable funding, and by partner capacity and commitment. Securing funding and resources will be an ongoing challenge to water management partnerships, particularly volunteer based groups, which are the majority of WPACs and WSGs. An important point that the Alberta Water Council makes is that "the jurisdiction of the planning body should match the geographic scope of the problem being addressed" (Alberta Water Council, 2007, p. 6). Watershed Stewardship Groups should have the power to make decisions over the entirety of their watershed.

The Alberta Water Council recognize that one of the most important requirements for a successful shared governance model is clear communication between all stakeholders. In 2011 the AWC released a report outlining ways to improve communication among all parties to aid in the implementation of water management actions. The AWC recognized that watershed management efforts had to be communicated horizontally between different watershed groups, vertically between higher levels of government and smaller voluntary watershed groups, and broadly to all affected stakeholders. The Council recommended that the AWC and the government of Alberta develop a formal implementation review process and a formalized system of meetings with representatives from WPACs to identify shared concerns and opportunities for collaboration. Formalizing the meeting and implementation process is necessary to ensure all water partnerships are employing an adaptive management approach, which requires assessing the success of actions and adjusting strategies for water management where necessary to improve outcomes. At a more local level, the

Alberta Water Council asked Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils to develop a mechanism for engaging and sharing information with the multiple Watershed Stewardship Groups in their respective areas (Alberta Water Council, 2011).

Part of the communication efforts was to let broader communities know about the successes of Alberta's Water Stewardship Groups and market the water partnerships across multiple sectors (Alberta Water Council, 2011). Communication is important to show the value of the water management work being done, and to ensure that interested individuals can find ways to get involved, which will lead to larger and better connected partnership networks. Just like in all collaborative management and planning systems, care must also be taken to incorporate the knowledge of local people. The Water for Life policy is generally focused on the dissemination of knowledge to the public and the strategy emphasizes scientific knowledge (Alberta Environment, 2003). Decision makers must not settle with one-way knowledge transfer from authorities and scientific experts to communities and stakeholders.

The Water for Life Strategy has done much to improve water management in a province that previously had no overarching water policy. Elements of successful collaborative planning in the Water for Life model include the involvement of multiple stakeholders, the commitment of government to improve communication among different levels of government and organizations, and the use of an adaptive management approach to implement water management actions. On the other hand many Watershed Stewardship and Advisory Groups do not have sufficient resources to fulfill their mandates and coordination between all groups is a challenge. There is wide spread recognition of the need for comprehensive water management in the province, but the need for regional planning is less defined. Additionally some people hold bad memories from the old Regional Planning Commissions in Alberta. It is promising though that the Land use Framework, outlined below, is building off of the collaborative planning model adopted for the Water for Life Strategy.

4.2 Alberta's Land-Use Framework

The Water for Life Strategy dealt with the need for comprehensive water management, but the government also realized that Alberta needed to manage land uses comprehensively to achieve a better balance of economic, environmental and social needs. It also recognized that land uses must be managed for their impact on Alberta's water system. Alberta's population has increased by over a million in the last 25 years, along with increased vehicle ownership, recreation activities, oil and gas development, timber harvests, electricity demand and agricultural land in production (Government of Alberta, 2008). This increased growth, along with conflicts between different activities on the same land, hastened the government's desire to develop a framework to effectively balance competing land uses. So just a few years after creation of Alberta's water strategy, the provincial government started developing a new Landuse Framework.

Throughout 2006 and 2007 the Government of Alberta held stakeholder consultations, working groups and public consultation meetings to solicit input and advice from the public on what the Land-use Framework should address (Government of Alberta, 2008). The Praxis Group wrote a report in 2007 summarizing the findings from public respondents who filled out workbooks. Respondents who filled out workbooks stated that they wanted more comprehensive provincial land use planning that achieved more long term sustainability of land and water resources. Public respondents also called for environmental stewardship to be central in any land use decision-making, for an understanding of cumulative effects to be a key part of land use decisions, and for conservation needs be addressed explicitly in the Land-use Framework. An overwhelming 74.3 percent of respondents said that the current balance in Alberta between developing the land versus conserving the land is "too focused on economic development and growth" (The Praxis Group, 2007, p. 11). Respondents also noted that industry and governments are too focused on short term gain and that the pace of development should be slower to ensure the health of the environment is sustained (The Praxis Group, 2007).

While there was little disagreement over what the objectives of regional planning should be, there was disagreement over how regional planning should be conducted. Workbook responses varied on whether regional planning councils should be created, what form they should take, and what their responsibilities should be (The Praxis Group, 2007). Most respondents agreed, however, that any land-use planning approach should be based on shared decision-making that balances economic development and environmental protection and health. Respondents were strongly in agreement that multiple levels of government should work together to achieve effective land-use planning. Another clear discourse from public workbook results was the importance of water to regional planning. Out of a list of land use issues, respondents to the Land-use Framework Workbook had the greatest concern about impacts on the province's water supply during land use planning, the cumulative effects of land-use activities, and the loss of wildlife habitat and biodiversity. Furthermore the majority of respondents were willing to accept limits to a range of types of development from agriculture to recreation if limits afforded more watershed protection (The Praxis Group, 2007). What is clear from a reading of the Land-use Framework Workbook Summary is that the public who responded strongly desires more consideration of the environment in all land use planning and that they believe economic growth must not occur at the expense of long term sustainable development and environmental integrity.

With the information garnered throughout 2006 and 2007 the provincial government released Alberta's draft Land-use Framework in 2008, and the final framework in December 2008. In the Framework the Government of Alberta (2008) outlined seven strategies to improve land use decision-making in the province and designates seven regions in the province (Figure 3). The strategies commit the province to creation of regions, regional plans, Regional Advisory Councils and a provincial Land-Use Secretariat to oversee regional planning. Also part of the province's strategies is taking a more sustainable approach to planning and development by focusing on conservation and stewardship, reducing the footprint of human activities on the land, and using cumulative effects management to assess the environmental impacts of development and management efforts. The Government of Alberta (2012) defines their Cumulative Effects Management System as a comprehensive way to manage all



Figure 3: Alberta's Planning Regions

Source: Government of Alberta. (2008). Land-use Framework Planning Regions based on Municipal Districts and watersheds. Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-use Framework website: http://www.edmonton.ca/environmental/documents/ Alberta_Land_Use_Framework.pdf In the Land-Use Framework the Government of Alberta (2008) provides a vision, desired outcomes, and guiding principles for land use planning. The vision is that "Albertans work together to respect and care for the land as the foundation of our economic, environmental and social well-being" (p. 15). The desired outcomes are a "healthy economy supported by our land and natural resources, healthy ecosystems and environment, [and] people-friendly communities with ample recreational and cultural opportunities" (p. 15). The guiding principles are that all decisions will be sustainable, accountable and responsible, supported by a land stewardship ethic, collaborative and transparent, integrated, knowledge-based, responsive, fair, equitable and timely, respectful of private property rights, and respectful of the constitutionally protected rights of aboriginal communities (Government of Alberta, 2008).

A number of groups commented on the Land-use Framework and suggested ways it could be improved. The Alberta Urban Municipalities Association (AUMA) recommended that the regional planning process be equipped with strong incentives for neighbours to cooperate and partner in regional planning efforts, and strong disincentives to impeding regional land use planning. More specifically they stated that after 6 months of failure to work together municipalities should be mandated to work together by the Government of Alberta. Furthermore the Association thought it was of utmost importance that the province focus on establishing a dispute resolution process for planning regions (AUMA, 2008).

The Southern Alberta Land Trust (SALT) is a locally-based non-profit organization that represents ranchers committed to conservation in Southern Alberta. SALT worried that the Land-Use framework would maintain the status quo and the economic focus of land-use decision making in the province, without adequate recognition of social and environmental needs (Gardner, 2008). In particular, they argued that the economic outcomes in the document focused too much on already existing industries. The Framework did not discuss attracting knowledge or creative industries, how agriculture can bring sustainable economic growth, or what economic value means to small and large communities. Another fundamental concern of SALT was the decision making structure put forward by the province for land use decisions. They argued that the creation of a provincial cabinet and regional advisory councils, all filled by appointment, is not efficient or democratic. They want land use planning in the province to be separated as much as possible from the political process (Gardner, 2008).

The desire to separate politics from regional planning is not surprising since politics did get in the way of adoption of the Land-use Framework. Leading up to the political election in 2011 in Alberta a lawyer from the Wild Rose Party travelled the province discussing the Land-use Framework with rural communities and arguing that the Framework limited and took away private property rights from individuals. In fact the government was careful to state that private property rights would be protected in regional planning processes (Government of Alberta, 2008). The spreading of misinformation greatly impacted the election results, with rural ridings predominantly electing Wild Rose party leaders. Despite this set back, however, the Land-use Framework moved forward.

The next step was for the government to put into legislation the new land use planning system and the parameters of regional planning. Once again the provincial government held public consultations with stakeholders, First Nations' communities and residents and in 2009 the Land Stewardship Act was adopted (Government of Alberta, 2011c). The final Alberta Land Stewardship Act creates seven regions based on watershed boundaries to manage the cumulative affects of land use activities and provide for sustainable economic, environmental and social development (Government of Alberta, 2011a) A provincial Secretariat supports Cabinet, government ministries, Regional Advisory Councils and local governments to develop and implement regional plans in Alberta. Regional Advisory Councils consist of members that represent a wide range of experience and expertise in each region. The RACs provide advice to the provincial government based on a terms of reference developed by the provincial government. RACs explicitly provide advice on future development, desired regional outcomes, how provincial policies relate to the regional level, how competing land uses can be reconciled and how the public should be consulted. The RACs do not write the regional plan, they simply produce an advice document that is released to the public for comments and used by the provincial government to write the regional plan.

Once a regional plan is approved by Cabinet it becomes law and guides all decision makers and levels of government on land use decisions (Government of Alberta, 2011c). As the Province of Alberta states in the Land Stewardship Act (2009), regional plans are binding on the crown, the province and local government bodies. Regional plans are legislative instruments and are termed regulations in the act, however, some parts of the regional plan may be identified as enforceable by law and others parts of the plan may be identified as statements of public policy or government direction. Regional plans are meant to be living documents that respond to public concerns and are adapted over time. The Land Stewardship Act states that prior to a regional plan being created or amended appropriate public consultation must be conducted and a report must be submitted to the executive council. The Act does not state who is responsible for submitting a report on public consultation. Regional plans must be reviewed a minimum of every 10 years and at least once every 5 years a committee must be appointed by the Land Use Secretariat to evaluate plans (Alberta Land Stewardship Act, 2009).

As for the content of a regional plan, it must include a vision and objectives for the planning region, but may also include policies for achieving, monitoring and assessing objectives and for determining who is responsible for taking action (Alberta Land Stewardship Act, 2009). Also part of a regional plan is the inclusion of provincial policy as guiding documents. The goal of regional plans in Alberta is to address all aspects of sustainability: governance, economic, social, environmental and cultural. In general each regional plan will have a policy context and regional vision statement; desired regional outcomes or results; objectives and goals; strategies, actions and approaches to reach goals and objectives; and monitoring and reporting guidelines (Government of Alberta, 2011a).

The regional planning process is driven by the province (Figure 4). The Lieutenant Governor of Council, also termed the Cabinet of Alberta, has the power to commence the regional planning process, outline stakeholder consultation processes, appoint regional advisory council members, and establish the terms of reference for Regional Advisory Council meetings (Province of Alberta, 2009). The Cabinet also has the ability to make laws that help implement the act, to use expropriation and to establish a corporation to perform any function relating to a regional plan.



Figure 4: The Regional Planning Process

Adapted from: Government of Alberta. (2008). *Land-Use Framework*. Retrieved from the Government of Alberta website: http://www.edmonton.ca/environmental/documents/ Alberta_Land_Use_Framework.pdf The Land Use Secretariat, which is overseen by a cabinet committee, is headed by the Stewardship Commissioner. The Commissioner's mandate is to direct preparation and review of regional plans, sub regional plans and amendments to plans, identify the need for policies, appoint a committee to evaluate plans every 5 years, conduct a review of regional plans every 10 years, and facilitate implementation of plans (Province of Alberta, 2009). All regional plans are reviewed and approved by Cabinet. The Regional Advisory Council and the Land use Secretariat are sustained by provincial resources (Government of Alberta, 2008).

An important component of Alberta's regional planning process is public consultation, which is coordinated and conducted by the provincial government. The Government of Alberta outlines the following ten steps in the regional planning process: development of a regional profile, description of the terms of reference for the Regional Advisory Council (RAC), phase one of public consultation, provision of RAC advice, phase two of public consultation, presentation of the draft regional plan, phase three of public consultation, presentation of an improved draft regional plan, approval by cabinet and implementation of the plan. Three phases of public consultation are part of the regional planning process: information and input sessions, input on the RAC's advice to government, and feedback on the draft regional plan (Government of Alberta, 2011b). Public input happens through physical meetings and sessions and through online and hardcopy workbooks that any citizens can fill out and submit to the Land Use Secretariat. The Regional Advisory Councils provide more in-depth advice and are a necessary link between broad public input and provincial decision making. In order to understand how RACs function in actuality we will now take a closer look at one areas efforts to develop a regional plan: the South Saskatchewan Region.

4.3 General Context of the South Saskatchewan Region

Alberta began the regional planning process in the Lower Athabasca and South Saskatchewan Region. The Lower Athabasca Region is important because of the presence of the oil sands and the difficulty of achieving environmental, economic and social balance in the area. The South Saskatchewan Region, on the other hand, is a priority because it houses almost half of Alberta's population, has a wide range of land uses from economic (most prominently agriculture), to recreational, to residential, and has pressing water problems. The Region is such an interesting case study of regional planning processes because of the history of rural and urban tension in the area, and because of the variety of activities on the land and the diversity of stakeholders. To understand the South Saskatchewan regional planning process we must review the facts about the area, examine the water questions in the region, and discuss the scope of the process. Population and land use patterns, economic activity, natural landscapes and already existing regional initiatives in the South Saskatchewan Region are briefly outlined below as they affect the advice of the Regional Advisory Council, and the content of the future regional plan.

The South Saskatchewan Region accounts for 12.6 percent of Alberta's total land area and includes five cities (Calgary, Lethbridge, Medicine Hat, Airdrie and Brooks), 15 municipal districts, 29 towns, 23 villages, two summer villages and seven First Nations communities on five reserves (Figure 5). The region has a population of approximately 1.5 million people, which is 45 percent of the province's total population (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Unlike the Lower Athabasca Region, where the vast majority of the land is owned by the crown, in the South Saskatchewan Region 60 percent of the land is privately owned. Of the remaining 40 percent, 30 percent of the land in the region is owned by the provincial government, and 10 percent is dedicated to First Nation's reserves and federally managed land (South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 2011). The combination of rural and urban municipalities and the mix of private, public and First Nations' lands makes determining trade-offs between competing land uses difficult. The regional plan has to provide direction on public and private land and priorities for development in urban and rural areas.



Figure 5: The South Saskatchewan Region

Source: Government of Alberta. (2008). Land-use Framework Planning Regions based on Municipal Districts and watersheds. Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-use Framework website: https://www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/SSRP%20Profile%20of%20the %20South%20Saskatchewan%20Region%20Report-P1-2009-11.pdf The main economic activities in the South Saskatchewan region are agriculture, energy production, forestry and recreation and tourism. Agriculture has always played a pivotal role in Southern Alberta's economy and accounts for much of the province's early growth during the expansion of the railroad and ensuing settlement in the prairies (Government of Alberta, 2009a). Much of the region's native grasslands have since been transformed into irrigable farmland. Along with a loss of land to agriculture, urban areas continue to consume land as well. Calgary, the province's largest city, is steadily growing in population and area. Population growth is expected to continue, with concurrent resource, residential and infrastructure development, placing stress on the region's environment and limited water supply (Government of Alberta, 2009b). While recognizing the importance of agriculture to the Southern Alberta economy the regional plan has to balance this sector's growth with the maintenance and enhancement of natural ecosystems and watersheds.

The South Saskatchewan Region has a diversity of landscapes, including grasslands, parkland, foothills, and Rocky Mountains. It also has at risk natural habitats that need protecting, namely wetlands, riparian areas and grasslands (South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 2011). Grasslands are one of the most threatened natural habitats in the province and they are home to a number of endangered species. In fact the South Saskatchewan region has 80 percent of the entire province's at risk species (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Publicly owned parkland in Waterton and the Eastern Slopes and Foothills area currently protect some of Southern Alberta's natural landscapes and wildlife. Part of the mandate of the Land-use Framework is to create a conservation strategy for Alberta, which will be partially articulated through regional plans.

Aside from the factors above, regional planning in the South Saskatchewan region must be cognizant of other planning initiatives in the region. The Eastern Slopes area, which refers to the east side of the Rocky Mountains and surrounding foothills, has been actively managed since 1977. Much of the Eastern Slopes is heavily used by multiple industries and actors, including oil and gas, grazing, forestry, and recreation (Government of Alberta, 2008). The South Saskatchewan Regional plan must take into account the integrated resource management plans in the Eastern Slopes area that

have been effectively dealing with conflicts over land use. Another important, and more recent, regional planning initiative is the Calgary Regional Partnership, which includes 13 urban municipalities and 5 rural districts in the Calgary area. The Partnership is striving to put into effect the Calgary Regional Partnership Metropolitan Plan, which must align with the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. The Calgary Regional Partnership Metropolitan Plan is meant to address a range of issues in the heavily populated region, including transportation networks, utility and infrastructure services, and means for improving the efficiency of development through high-density infill and the delineation of growth areas versus restricted growth areas (Government of Alberta, 2008). We now turn to the region's most defining characteristic: concern over water resources.

4.4 Water Conditions in the South Saskatchewan Region

Water management is dealt with in a separate process from land use planning in Alberta, but regional plans are meant to be informed by water goals and manage land use activities for their impacts on water systems. Providing an overview of Alberta's water conditions will situate the comments of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council and show how water conditions affect land use planning.

Alberta has ten percent of Canada's population, it has only two percent of Canada's freshwater (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). The South Saskatchewan Region is particularly lacking in water supply. Problems with water supply and demand are particularly pressing in the Eastern Slopes where the region's water originates, and where economic development and country residential development is expanding (Government of Alberta, 2009a). The South Saskatchewan River Basin has four separate tributaries. The Bow River passes through Calgary, supports the highest population in the region, and has 11 hydro facilities along it. The Oldman River passes through Lethbridge, has one of Alberta's largest dams, and is very heavily used for agriculture. The Red Deer River flows through Red Deer and the South Saskatchewan River passes through Medicine Hat.

Vander-Ploeg (2010) clearly explains Alberta's water challenges. Water problems in the region stem from population and supply mismatch, unpredictability of water flows,

and the demands of multiple water users. Firstly, population and water supply is not well matched in the province. The South Saskatchewan Region's rivers have low outflows but are surrounded by high populations. Southern Alberta also has very few lakes, with most significantly sized lakes found in the northern part of the province where the fewest people live. It is also important to note that Alberta has lost two thirds of its wetlands, which are important water purifiers, putting water quality at stake.

Second, unpredictability is caused by the natural state of Southern Alberta's water system, climate change and a lack of knowledge about water supply. Water flows vary from year to year and droughts and floods are common. Our baseline for water is based on water flows measured in the 20th century, which has arguably been a wet period in Alberta's history of water supply. Alberta may have been much dryer in past centuries and we may be leaving a wet period and therefore facing more severe droughts in the future. Climate change, with all of its possible impacts, sheds further uncertainty on water supply in the drought-prone province. Major knowledge gaps exist in areas of water science, public policy, energy use and the interaction of these factors. Certain water conditions, like the amount of groundwater in Southern Alberta, are also very poorly understood (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). A lack of knowledge complicates management.

A third challenge noted by Vander-Ploeg (2010) is the problem of accommodating multiple water users. The South Saskatchewan River Basin is the most heavily used river system in Alberta, with multiple users who have different demands of the water system, as well as different impacts on the river basin's health and the quality of the broader ecosystem. The South Saskatchewan Region has over 20 000 water allocation licenses; the largest user is irrigation for agricultural purposes (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Other water allocations go to a range of uses including oil and gas development, thermal and electrical power generation, forestry pulp and paper operations, and municipal consumption. What is termed water management, or the amount of water allowed to flow naturally to protect ecosystem functioning and the aquatic environment, uses just 7 percent of Alberta's total water allocations. Another major water user is surrounding provinces. The 1969 Master Agreement on Apportionment requires that Alberta manage water so that Saskatchewan, Manitoba

and the North West Territories receive fair and adequate amounts of river outflows (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). More specifically for the South Saskatchewan Region, half of all water flow must be sent to Saskatchewan.

Unlike other regions, all sectors of the economy and the environment are active in the South Saskatchewan Region and there is inter- and intra-sectoral competition for water (Vander-Ploeg, 2010). The South Saskatchewan region has reached its limits, and in 2006 the Alberta government closed a number of river basins to new surface water allocations. Most current water allocations are not fully used because they were bought to accommodate growth, and therefore consumption of water will increase even though no new licenses will be granted for the Oldman, Bow and South Saskatchewan rivers (Government of Alberta, 2009b). The provincial government is trying to support water allocation transfers, but currently it can be difficult to find licenses for transfer. Alberta has a first in time, first in right policy for water allocations, which means as water shortages increase, newer license holders may be at risk (Government of Alberta, 2009a). Some trading of water licenses is already occurring, but without enough transparency or regulation (Kelly & Sturgess, 2010).

Ecosystem health is underrepresented in water allocations. Some argue that the environment has to be recognized as an important and required user of water. They argue that water conservation objectives should be put into senior water licenses to ensure healthy aquatic ecosystems (Vander-Ploeg, 2010; Kelly & Sturgess, 2010). Senior water licenses are long standing water allocations that have been held for decades, usually by irrigation districts, while junior water licenses have been granted more recently. In Alberta's first in time, first in right system the water allocations of senior license holders are always filled first followed by more junior water licenses. If your water license is the most recent to be granted and there is a drought or lower water flows you may not receive your full water allocation. Some water conservation objective licenses have been created in Alberta, but they are junior licenses and in times of water scarcity they may not be filled (Kelly & Sturgess, 2010). They suggest that the province create a more robust private sector water market so that aquatic ecosystems can be protected by requiring that water license transfers conform to regulations protecting environmental health.

Traditionally, because of the vulnerability of Alberta's water, the government has been concerned with ensuring water supply through supply side measures such as large dams, irrigation works and private water storage reservoirs. Vander-Ploeg (2010) argues that water in the province has been aggressively managed and very heavily regulated and that the province must switch to different water management techniques. Because of the freeze on water allocations. in Southern Alberta, the province must turn to smaller-scale supply side water provision, such as small-scale water capture and storage systems and water recycling. He argues that the province must also expand demand side approaches to water conservation, such as introducing technological innovation, legislation, regulation, public awareness campaigns, and financial incentives (Vander-Ploeg, 2010).

Alberta's water allocation system is currently being investigated by the province in a process separete from regional planing. However, because it is so crucial to land use decisions it does come up in discussions of regional planning in the South Saskatchewan Region. The Water for Life Strategy and Land Use Framework are helping to move Alberta in the direction of more comprehensive and coordinated water management.

CHAPTER 5: Council Advice

This chapter outlines the the Terms of Reference and Regional Advisory Council recommendations. I examine the content of the terms of reference and advice documents and provide my own analysis alongside the comments of Alberta organizations.

5.1 South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council Terms of Reference

Regional Advisory Councils are the province's tool for soliciting in-depth stakeholder advice on regional planning. The regional planning process is overseen by the Land Use Secretariat, which provides the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council (SSRAC) with policy analysis, research and administrative support, and information on how the regional plan will fit within provincial objectives and priorities (Government of Alberta, 2009b). The Government of Alberta (2009b) states that Cabinet and the SSRAC are intended to be in continual dialogue about land use decisions in the region, with information and advice moving in both directions between the provincial government and the stakeholder group. The Terms of Reference for the SSRAC states that regional plans are meant to forecast a minimum of 50 years into the future to anticipate and plan for long term changes in the region and that the SSRAC should consider thresholds for managing cumulative effects of development (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Cumulative effects management recognizes the need for integrated management of all activities that affect the environment, economy and society in a region (Government of Alberta, 2012). This approach to management of land use and the environment also uses a 'plan-do-check' strategy to evaluate outcomes, which follows a similar model to adaptive management approaches that have been used in environmental planning for many years. Adaptive management is defined as a process of learning by doing, where decision makers use monitoring and feedback to continually improve management activities (Margerum, 2011).

The Terms of Reference (2009) was written by the province to outline the mandate of the SSRAC, which in basic terms is to provide advice to Cabinet on the regional plan. The Land Use Secretariat, and a project team of government ministries

and agencies, will then develop the regional plan based on advice from the SSRAC and input from public, stakeholder and Aboriginal consultations. The Regional Advisory Council was asked to provide advice on future development, desired regional outcomes, how the regional plan could align with provincial policies, and how to reconcile tradeoffs between economic, environmental and social priorities. The RAC was asked to begin with broad conceptualizing of the region, followed by advice on how the region should develop over the long term and ending with more focused advice on specific topics.

The government outlined eight topics that are outside the scope and mandate of Regional Advisory Councils: municipal governance, aboriginal consultation, population limits, taxation, government expenditures, existing laws or regulations and water allocation (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Municipal governance is decided by the provincial government and it makes sense that regional councils should not be able to re-organize or re-structure municipalities. The complex issues of First Nations involvement in land use decisions warrants a separate consultation process. There was, however, meant to be a member of the Aboriginal community on the SSRAC, but a representative did not join the Council until the last few meetings. Hopefully the lack of a Aboriginal perspective for most of the SSRAC process will be made up for with sufficient First Nations consultations.

Taxation, provincial royalties, government expenditures and existing laws and regulations are all dealt with through existing procedures and government processes, and are rightfully outside the mandate of a stakeholder advisory group. Water allocation, however, causes some problems by being outside of the SSRAC's mandate. Water is the most pressing issue in the region and its supply, quality and allocation affect all land use activities and the health of ecosystems. Water allocation cannot be separated from discussions of agriculture and development or protection of ecosystems. Artificially removing the topic of water allocation from a Council meant to provide advice on integrated land use planning, and tradeoffs between different land use activities, was frustrating for SSRAC participants (Chapter 6. 2).

The South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council (SSRAC) was formed in May 2009 and met for a total of 13 multi-day meetings (South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 2011). Along with the SSRAC, the provincial government hosted public consultations throughout the regional planning process. The first phase of public consultation occurred in November and December of 2009. There were 16 stakeholder input sessions attended by 365 individuals from municipalities, industry, environmental organizations, irrigation districts, agriculture organizations, non-governmental organizations and landowners. In two hour sessions, stakeholders input was solicited through a series of questions and probes with the moderator focusing on the planning process, identification of significant issues, ways to improve management of land and ecosystems through the SSRP, and thoughts on future consulting approaches for the SSRP (Government of Alberta, 2010d). Over 500 people also attended public information sessions held in 16 locations across the province (Government of Alberta, 2010c). Participants included farmers, landowners, residents, elected officials, park and recreation interests and stakeholder organizations, such as Aboriginal groups. Input sessions were held to inform the public about the regional planning process and get input on topics discussed in the SSRP terms of reference. I365 individuals also attended stakeholder sessions in 16 locations.

The SSRAC provided advice to the province in five main areas: water; economic development; conservation; recreation and tourism management; and human development, which is described as impacts to aboriginal communities and objectives for healthy communities (South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 2011). The SSRAC's final advice document includes a vision statement, principles to guide thoughtful land use planning in the region, and specific recommendations under main headings, such as tourism and recreation or biodiversity and healthy communities. The SSRAC also propose a new land use classification system for the region which divides the region into smaller areas based on environmental, economic and social characteristics. Each land use classification has different management intents and suggested activities, which provides direction for plans developed at a smaller scale, such as forest management plans or municipal development plans. The land use classification system will be discussed further in Section 5.2.

A workbook with the SSRAC's suggestions was available for the public to fill out from April 2011 to May 2012. The workbook was over 70 pages longs and contained summaries of the SSRAC's recommendations to the province in five sections: regional

vision and strategic land-use principles, healthy economy, healthy ecosystem and environment, healthy communities, and land-use direction and management intent (Government of Alberta, 2011b). In each section respondents were asked to rate their agreement with the RACs recommendations and were provided with space to write comments after each subsection (Government of Alberta, 2011b). This input will be taken into account by the province in the development of the draft regional plan. The draft regional plan is scheduled to be presented in 2012, for a final round of public input, before the government releases the final South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (Government of Alberta, 2011b). Responses from public consultations will be discussed in Chapter 7, but first we must review the SSRAC's advice document.

5.2 Regional Advisory Council Recommendations

Advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan is a 70 page document that provides a brief description of the region, a vision statement, planning principles, recommendations and new land use designations with accompanying management intents. The SSRAC's long vision statement contains four key points: the region is diverse and beautiful and future generations will be connected to the land and celebrate it; an integrated approach is used to manage the three pillars of sustainability (economy, society and environment); private property and personal freedom is respected; and traditional aboriginal and community knowledge, and science and innovation is used to ensure ecological integrity (South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 2011). The vision statement is guite broad and is clearly written to accommodate all Albertans and the general objective of sustainability. One interesting part of the vision statement is the attention given to respecting private property rights. Regional planning is usually about directing and controlling activities on the land, which can sometimes conflict with individual property rights and personal freedom. The small government and conservative political nature of Southern Alberta means that the Regional Advisory Council and the provincial government have to clearly state that private property rights will not be threatened.

The Council goes on to outline eight principles it believes must guide thoughtful land use planning in the South Saskatchewan region. The SSRAC's (2011) first principle

is that water is considered integral to any planning decisions because the supply and quality of water affects all types of land use. Planning for water was an important component of many SSRAC discussions, however, water allocation was not meant to be discussed and one SSRAC member was frustrated with the Council's lack of knowledge of Alberta's water conditions (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012).

Second, the SSRAC once again notes the importance of respecting private property rights and recognizing the different tools that will be used for controlling public and private lands. It is unclear up to what point private property rights will be respected if they conflict with regional planning objectives. It is not surprising that being mindful of private land ownership rights is a top principle for the Council, considering the public upset over private property rights in connection with the Land-use Framework during the 2011 provincial election.

The SSRAC (2011) next highlight the need for developing conservation and stewardship tools, such as market-based incentives or transferable development credits, to protect valuable land and resources in the region. Many of these tools are not developed yet and it may be quite some time before conservation and stewardship tools have been created and tested to a point where they can be applied to the South Saskatchewan Region. As the SSRAC state, new tools must be accessible and well understood.

The SSRAC's fourth principle elicited concern from some environmental groups. The Council states that planning should be able to accommodate multiple users, more specifically stating that "the focus for planning should not be primarily on "if" but on "how" and under "what" conditions an activity can be allowed on the land base" (SSRAC, 2011, p. 8). It is hard to make necessary tradeoffs between conservation and development if all activities are supposed to be accommodated on the land. However, it may not be realistic for the SSRAC to identify when development or conservation will take precedence; trade-offs must be specific to the local conditions. As long as objectives are prioritized in the regional plan, municipalities should be able to make trade-offs between different land use activities. In order for multiple users to be accommodated on the land base, the provincial government must support sustainable

development that can co-exist with conservation, over less sustainable development that may be more profitable.

The RAC's fifth and sixth principles focus on integration and efficiency. As outlined by the SSRAC (2011), integrated planning incorporates multiple objectives and stakeholders, uses market-based tools, and reduces planning overlaps and redundancies. Regulatory streamlining and efficiency can reduce levels of bureaucracy, integrate different scales of planning, encourage collaboration and make policy more straightforward and communicable. The success of principles five and six depend on a strong communication network, so that reduced redundancies does not equal gaps in planning.

The seventh principle iterates the SSRAC Terms of Reference that the province must create a process for dealing with First Nations' land use issues. The final principle states that the regional plan will provide more clarity on economic opportunities and constraints (SSRAC, 2011).

The SSRAC goes on in their advice document to suggest desired outcomes for the economy, the environment and communities, or the social aspect of planning. In general the SSRAC's economic outcomes focus on the same things the province has encouraged for a long time, a thriving and competitive economy. A more interesting suggestion however, is that attaching a value to ecological goods and services should become an important component of the economy (SSRAC, 2011). This means that people who agree to protect the environment, for example by ensuring flood and erosion control in an area, or agreeing not to develop in crucial wildlife habitat, will receive remuneration on behalf of the societal good they are doing. Incorporating a system for valuing ecological goods and services in regional planning places more emphasis on the worth of healthy ecosystems. One limitation to this planning tool is that renumeration is provided by the provincial government and in times of economic recession or government deficit less money is available for rewarding individuals who limit their development of the land.

Economic objectives and recommendations are also outlined for each sector: agriculture, energy, forestry, recreation and tourism. Many recommendations for the agriculture sector focus on ensuring water for irrigation, for example through improved

water efficiency and storage. The SSRAC also recommends minimizing agricultural land fragmentation and using market based approaches to encourage more sustainable agriculture. The energy industry is supported as long as development does not negatively impact agriculture, sensitive habitats or water resources. Important to note in the Council's recommendations for the energy sector is the need to support and expand renewable energy development and to use cumulative environmental effects management when the province processes any energy developments. Cumulative environmental effects management takes a more adaptive management approach that looks at all ramifications of a particular development. This approach requires constant review and monitoring of management actions to evaluate the consequences of development, and make changes where necessary, to reduce the negative environmental impacts of land use activities.

The Council also calls for improved long term planning of transportation and municipal infrastructure, which will reduce land fragmentation, avoid negative impacts to the environment and historic resources and provide more efficient service (SSRAC, 2011). It will be interesting to see how well municipalities can cooperate to decide on a regional transportation network.

The next section of the SSRAC's advice is termed healthy ecosystems and environment. A large part of this section is devoted to water management. Specifically recommendations deal with protecting headwaters, wetlands, riparian areas and aquatic ecosystems; ensuring adequate water quality and supply; reducing water pollution; and facilitating the implementation of water management plans and monitoring and reporting functions. Although many excellent recommendations are made, the language used, such as "where reasonably possible" is non-committal and does not stress that water protection will be a top priority. The SSRAC also state that water-management plans should be supported and implemented, but there are few details about how regional planning will interact with the Water for Life groups. The integration of water management and regional planning will be discussed in Section 7.3.

The Council also makes a good deal of promising recommendations concerning biodiversity in the region. They place emphasis on a more holistic, efficiently managed system to protect biodiversity with a range of stewardship and conservation tools. The

SSRAC also call on the provincial government to establish management frameworks, databases of species, and practices and tools for protecting the biodiversity of the region. Once again, however, the language used ("where feasible") does not commit someone to action or make biodiversity protection a priority over other land use activities. Importantly, though, the Council suggests more collaboration and communication between all stakeholders to reduce negative human impacts on the landscape and implement best management practices.

The SSRAC next make recommendations for promoting healthy communities that have plentiful recreation opportunities. Most recommendations center on the need for more coordinated planning among communities and increased local capacity. Local municipalities need to be supplied with the land-use planning tools to ensure active communities, and promotion of historical and cultural resources (SSRAC, 2011).

Also in this section, the Council provides some recommendations for Aboriginal people in the region. The SSRAC (2011) encourages First Nations participation in the regional economy and cumulative effects management. It is unclear, however, how the provincial government will resolve current problems with treaty water rights, which greatly affects the extent and type of participation of First Nation communities. Currently many First Nations are reluctant to participate on watershed groups or Regional Advisory Councils because of unresolved court cases concerning their water rights in Alberta (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). The Council's wording in the advice document is not clear about how resource management with First Nations will be conducted. Aboriginal people are encouraged to share their traditional knowledge to aid planning, but there is no specification of how management power will be shared. For example, will the province encourage and facilitate community based conservation management that is created and implemented by First Nations? If this is the case how will the government and First Nations stakeholders build capacity and resources for local management? First Nations' complex relationship to regional planning and decision making in the province may be outside of the scope of the SSRAC's advice document, but these important questions must be answered in order to have an accountable and effective regional planning system.

Also under the category of healthy communities is the tourism and recreation industry. Many of the SSRAC's (2011) recommendations concerning tourism and recreation focus on expanding access to, and awareness of, recreation areas. The SSRAC discuss in length how to encourage activity not only in designated areas, but in public and private lands outside of designated areas that already have recreation and tourism opportunities. Although it is good to recognize the vital role that tourism plays in Alberta's economy, it is surprising that the Council does not mention the potential environmental issues that could result from an expanded tourism sector. The region already experiences intense recreational activity and its associated affects, such as high seasonal water demand, resort development in fringe areas and encroachment on wildlife habitat. Furthermore the public expressed their desire that environmental protection take priority over recreation and tourism in sensitive and high valued areas (Government of Alberta, 2010b). While the Council makes good points about improving connectivity between recreation areas, and providing a greater diversity of recreational opportunities, there should be more attention paid in the SSRAC advice to the threat that increased recreational demand could have on natural areas and water systems.

The final section of the SSRAC advice report is devoted to proposing a new land use classification system to replace the oversimplified Green and White area designations that were created by Premier Manning in 1948. In general Green Areas denoted forested lands, which were mostly publicly owned and were situated in northern Alberta (Government of Alberta, 2011a). White Areas, in contrast, were settled lands that were predominantly privately owned and located in the populated central and southern areas of Alberta (Government of Alberta, 2011a). White Areas were managed for settlement and agriculture, while Green Areas were managed for forest production, watershed protection, fish and wildlife populations, and recreation (Government of Alberta, 2008). The SSRAC (2011) suggests seven new, more detailed designations: agriculture, cultivated lands, native rangeland, conservation, mixed-use-forest, population centers, and recreation/tourism. The new classification system includes a description of the distinct management needs of different types of land use and is therefore very valuable for regional planning. The Council also notes specific conservation areas, and different types of recreational land use. The new land use

classification is fairly thorough and more sophisticated than the old Green and White designations. If adopted by the province the new classification system could be a very valuable tool for deciding on desired management outcomes in the South Saskatchewan Region. It will be particularly useful for municipalities to create local plans that fit the outcomes desired for the land use types within their jurisdiction.

Overall the SSRAC's advice covers the necessary regional topics of economy, environment and society. However, there is more attention given to some topics, such as riparian areas and tourism development than other important topics, such as groundwater quality and air pollution. This may be a function of the knowledge available to the SSRAC or possessed by Council members. The SSRAC provides some good advice, but the language used is often non-committal or vague. Hopefully the Government of Alberta's South Saskatchewan Regional Plan will be more direct and be followed by a clear implementation strategy. Now that we know what the Council produced, let us evaluate the SSRAC process based on the experiences of Council members.

CHAPTER 6: Analysis of the Stakeholder Council Process

The South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council (SSRAC) had their final meeting in 2010. Over a year later I asked some of the Council members to reflect on their experience during the planning process. Specifically I asked interviewees about the elements of success for collaborative planning processes that I uncovered during my literature review (Chapter 3). For example I asked about the transparency of the process, the distribution of political and financial resources among members, the ability to reach consensus and the level and sources of knowledge of members. My aim during questioning was to identify the challenges of a collaborative stakeholder group and what factors were important to Council members in the functioning of the consensus group. I allowed interview subjects to identify what was important to them in the functioning of the Council and SSRAC members highlighted a number of aspects of the planning process that were both positive and negative. The most commonly mentioned factors affecting the regional planning process were member selection, the resources and power of members, the scope of the mandate and the information included in discussions and the need for consensus among SSRAC members.

6.1 Selection of Council Members

Selecting members for a stakeholder group is an important determining factor in whether a planning process will be perceived by the public as transparent, legitimate and accountable. Transparent member selection was identified as an important component of a successful collaborative, consensus process in the environmental management research. The members of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council were chosen by the provincial government. Organizations, such as municipal districts or environmental groups, received invitations from the provincial government to provide names of individuals who would like to be on the Council. One SSRAC member noted that the provincial government call for submissions gave too little time for some potential participants to respond to their organizations (Jake, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Some SSRAC members that I interviewed were happy with the

diversity of the Council, while others felt that some populations were underrepresented, particularly the environmental sector and Aboriginals.

The Alberta network of environmental non-government organizations was invited to submit names for the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, but in the end none of the names environmental organizations submitted were chosen (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012; Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). The Alberta Wilderness Association (AWA) has been involved in regional planning and the Alberta Land Use Framework since 2006. The AWA (2012) also state that their recommendations for environmental representatives to be members of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council were ignored. One SSRAC member stated that the lack of environmental representation was so discouraging because Alberta has a very active and competent environmental sector with multiple individuals who could have contributed effectively as SSRAC members (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). As Jill from the AWA explained, there was an individual from Ducks Unlimited on the Council, an organization that works to conserve and manage Canada's wetlands, but no individuals from Alberta's environmental network that take a stronger view on policy matters (personal communication, May 14, 2012).

Another SSRAC member was concerned that there were not enough individuals on the Council with knowledge of the state of Alberta's water systems and the work of Water Protection and Advisory Groups in Southern Alberta (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Nancy stated that because of the importance of water matters to the region there should have been multiple voices who could speak about water issues on the Council. The lack of environmental representation on the SSRAC added to the perception by two environmental sector representatives I interviewed, one on the SSRAC and one not, that the regional planning process was secretive and lacked transparency (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012; Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012).

Another group that was under-represented on the SSRAC were First Nations. There was a seat available on the Council for a First Nations representative from Treaty 7, but according to one SSRAC member, political strains among Treaty 7 members meant they could not decide who should represent them on the Council (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). For the first ten SSRAC meetings there was no Aboriginal participation. For the last three SSRAC meetings a First Nations representative was finally nominated to participate. To truly understand why Aboriginal participation was so inconsistent in the South Saskatchewan regional planning process would require more interviews with Treaty 7 members, which is outside the scope of this paper. Suffice it to say a First Nations perspective should have been a part of the SSRAC discussions from the start and hopefully there will be fuller aboriginal participation on future Regional Advisory Councils.

Despite some problems with representation, there was general agreement among interview participants that the SSRAC was a very diverse and knowledgeable group of people. It should also be noted that Council members were not asked to specifically represent a particular sector, but rather to bring their unique knowledge base to the table (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Participants felt that members had a broad range of experience and represented a good cross section of Southern Alberta knowledge (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Nancy, personal communication June 1, 2012). In fact one member stated that the Council "was as diverse as you could possible get within a group of 18 people" (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Also encouraging is the statement that the SSRAC had very strong willed individuals, but no one was able to hijack the process and force people to focus on only one aspect or one way of viewing regional issues (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012).

Some participants stressed the importance of careful selection of group members to ensure a good group composition. One SSRAC member believed that member selection for the South Saskatchewan Regional Council was partially political because of the connections some individuals had to members of government (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Another participant noted that members should not be selected for political reasons but for the diversity of experience and knowledge they can offer, as well as their ability to listen as much as they can talk in a stakeholder setting (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). Moving forward with the selection of future Regional Advisory Council members it is necessary to select members that are knowledgeable, representative and ready to listen to other viewpoints. It is also vital that
member selection processes are clear and transparent to have the support of the public and the stakeholder members and that sufficient time is provided for interested participants to respond.

6.2 Ensuring Equitable Access to Resources

Closely related to member selection is the ability of stakeholders to fully participate in the regional planning process. The capacity of stakeholders, in terms of time, money and networking resources, affected SSRAC members' perceptions of the process and their ability to communicate their interests. Some SSRAC members expressed frustration with discrepancies between the power and resources of industry representatives and environmental sector representatives. For example, environmental sector participants who are involved with regional planning and water management in Southern Alberta stated that the work they do is on a volunteer basis (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012; Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Most environmental non-government organizations cannot afford to pay their staff for their work (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012). One SSRAC member stated that financial compensation for participating on the RAC should be much higher, since unlike other sectors, she was not paid by her industry to participate (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012).

Aside from financial remuneration, some SSRAC members felt they did not have the network and political resources that other participants had. One SSRAC member said that the regional planning process was not transparent enough because members were not acting as sector representatives, but as individual citizens with particular knowledge about a sector (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). It was therefore unclear how much SSRAC members could share and communicate with their community about what was being discussed on the Council. Perhaps a more transparent process would have had members meet with their communities in between stakeholder meetings to gain feedback and advice that they could then bring to stakeholder group discussions. There are clearly trade-offs to either approach. It can be an advantage to gain insight from sectors throughout the planning process. On the other hand, because SSRAC members did not officially represent an organization or group they could potentially take a broader perspective on regional planning problems. As a result participants might have been relieved of the pressure to stick to their particular sector's mandate.

It is unclear from interviews what the official stance of the provincial government was on members sharing information from SSRAC meetings. One participant said members were allowed to share what was being discussed in SSRAC meetings. However, he stated that members should make it clear to their sectors that the Council had not reached final decisions on what advice to provide to the provincial government (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One SSRAC member said she was frustrated that she could not convene meetings with the environmental sector and garner insight from them on the SSRAC discussions. She stated that she did not have the same opportunities as other members to express the opinions and interests of her sector in SSRAC meetings (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Another SSRAC member, however, stated that he had a group of individuals from the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers that he was able to meet with between SSRAC meetings to share information and gather their input on regional planning (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). At this point it is not clear whether Nancy's inability to communicate with her sector was because she felt unsure of what she was allowed to share, or because her sector did not have the same resources to convene meetings as other sectors. Clearly there is a large discrepancy between what SSRAC members felt they were allowed or able to do with the information discussed during Council meetings.

Another example of the discrepancy between the resources of the environmental and industry sector is the ability of sector representatives to attend public input sessions on regional planning hosted by the provincial government. SSRAC members were encouraged to attend open houses, on their own time, to answer questions from the public (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Some members had more capacity to attend public meetings than others. Members from the industry sector were able to travel the region, attend all the public engagement sessions and record feedback, which put them at an advantage for stating their position to the public and expressing their interests in SSRAC meetings (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). More thought should be given to ensuring participants have equal access to networks of power and the resources needed to participate fully in regional planning processes.

6.3 Planning Mandate and Flow of Information

Two major topics that arose in interviews was the scope of the regional planning mandate, and the amount and type of information provided to South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council members. Defining the scope and information necessary for regional planning are difficult tasks that greatly affect the planning outcome. SSRAC members were most concerned about the omission of water allocation from the Council's mandate. When it came to information, many SSRAC members were frustrated with the provincial government for providing too much information and not listening to the knowledge SSRAC members had to contribute.

The holistic nature of regional planning requires that decision makers consider a range of economic, environmental and social factors. At the same time, stakeholders must be able to decide on recommendations and provide a written report in a timely manner. The provincial government stated that water allocation would be dealt with by the provincial government in a separate process from regional planning (Government of Alberta, 2009b). Over the next year or so, the Government of Alberta will be reviewing how water is allocated in the province and consulting with the public and stakeholders on possible alternatives to the current system. Some members were concerned that water allocation was left out of the SSRAC's mandate because it is the most important factor affecting development in the region (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012; George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). The SSRAC did end up discussing water allocation in meetings, but only stated in their recommendations that the province should deal with water allocation issues promptly (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One participant speculated that the provincial government left the problem of water allocation out of the SSRAC mandate because the topic was sensitive and it would have required a great deal of information and time to ensure SSRAC members had enough knowledge to make recommendations (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). There is a fine line between excluding a topic

because it may hijack a planning process and excluding a topic because it is contentious. Decision makers have to decide how much can be discussed and decided on during a stakeholder process. As one SSRAC member stated, there will be planning and management activities going on outside of what the SSRAC is doing that members "just have to accept without knowing what the final results will be" (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012).

Part of defining the scope of a planning process is determining how much information should be provided to participants. Many SSRAC members suffered information overload at the beginning of the process. As the chair of the SSRAC meetings stated, there was too much emphasis on providing information to the members and too little time provided for discussion (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One SSRAC member explained that he felt like he was sitting in a classroom and that the government was wasting time presenting material that could be easily absorbed by members on their own time, before coming to meetings (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Other SSRAC members felt that their opinions and knowledge were not being considered. They believed that government bureaucrats were providing already written recommendations that the provincial government simply wanted SSRAC members to approve (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012; Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Bob. personal communication, May 3, 2012). The lack of attention given to the input of SSRAC members made some participants question the whole process and almost lead to the council's dissolution (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). One participant expressed the feeling that the government was projecting a "we know better" attitude and ignoring the wealth of knowledge that SSRAC members possessed (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012). Luckily the chair and the provincial government listened to the concerns of SSRAC members and the process improved after the first few meetings, with more input from SSRAC members and less government produced recommendations (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012; Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012).

One SSRAC member argued that the regional planning process was necessarily information heavy and that it would have been difficult to produce advice without the government directing the flow of information (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). In the end, at least one SSRAC member concluded that he was proud that the recommendations came directly from Council members and reflected their views, not just what government wanted to hear (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). The SSRAC meetings were a learning process for stakeholders and the government. Many Council members stated that a better balance of information and discussion would improve future Regional Advisory Council meetings (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012; George, personal communication, June 21, 2012).

Another important component of providing information is determining where the information will come from. Organizers must ask important questions about how much information is necessary to make a decision, who decides what information is presented and how credible are the individuals presenting information (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). In SSRAC meetings a large portion of information was delivered by government representatives from multiple departments, such as parks and recreation or sustainable development (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). There were also experts from outside government that presented to the SSRAC, such as rangeland pasture specialists, and experts from the oil and gas industry (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Some SSRAC meetings were also held in different towns and cities throughout the region. Members from the local government in each place would share the interests and perspectives of the local community with the Council (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). One SSRAC member stated that meeting individuals from smaller municipalities helped add local flavour to the SSRAC's discussions (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Most information was processed by a consultant company who took the information provided to SSRAC members and framed the discussions for the Council (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One SSRAC member stated that the team of bureaucrats did a good job of delivering information so that SSRAC members could discuss topics that were outside of members' "direct experience and knowledge base" (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Another SSRAC member stated that some participants

did not always accept the rationale put forward by government and that members desired a diverse set of facts to base their advice on (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012).

The Chair of the regional planning process felt it was difficult at times to determine who should be able to present to the SSRAC. He stated that his "phone was ringing off the hook with all kinds of organizations" that wanted some of the SSRAC's time to present their position (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). The organizers had to be careful to choose individuals that would provide much needed information to the Council and respond to the questions posed by the SSRAC members, rather than choose groups that wanted to lobby for a certain position (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One SSRAC member stated that he was happy with the knowledge and expertise of individuals that did present to the Council (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012). However, SSRAC members did not have enough information to provide in-depth recommendations for all topics. This imbalance of knowledge is reflected in the lack of attention paid to some notable problems, such as air quality, compared to other topics, such as the health of headwaters (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One action that helped streamline the process and save time was having representatives from government departments, and other individuals with knowledge in a particular topic, sit in during SSRAC meetings to answer Council's questions as they arose (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012).

At some point information must be limited and decisions have to be made. One SSRAC member believed that meetings could have continued another three to six months with members continuing to absorb information and debate possibilities. However, the time frame was set and the group needed to produce advice in a timely manner (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). One member stated that they did not have enough time to listen to as many individuals as they perhaps should have, but that it is also important not to get carried away with gathering input from representatives or the public (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). Grant continued to state that "as long as whatever you create has flexibility" and can be

adapted to local circumstances as time goes on, then stakeholders should make a statement.

Organizers of regional planning processes must be aware of how the quantity, quality and delivery of information will affect the outcomes of stakeholder process. For future Regional Advisory Councils the delivery of information should be streamlined to prevent frustrating Council members. Care should also be taken to provide a diversity of sources and to ensure the transparency and suitability of information.

6.4 Reaching Consensus

Margerum (2011) defines collaboration as "an approach to solving complex problems," where a "diverse group of autonomous stakeholders deliberates to build consensus" (p. 6). Based on this definition the SSRAC used a consensus approach to produce recommendations for regional planning. The Chair of the SSRAC process was charged with helping the Council members reach consensus, or in his words, create recommendations "that everyone around the table could live with" (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). George stated that voting occurred very rarely, in situations where the discussion was repetitive and the group needed to reach a decision. When voting did occur, there were very clear majorities of at least 65 percent (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012; Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012; Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Participants agreed that the facilitators were very necessary to the process and generally did a great job of mediating discussions (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012; Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Good ground rules were also cited as a very important part of a successful consensus process (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Council members, although they held very different opinions, were always respectful to one another when expressing their perspectives and listening to others (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012; Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012).

Most decisions were arrived at by consensus, but one SSRAC member thought that the need to achieve consensus lessened the strength of the Council's recommendations (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Nancy felt that the Council had to compromise too often and therefore the SSRAC's recommendations were watered down. She believed the SSRAC's role was to provide advice to the government about what members thought was the right thing to do and that the government's role was to take their arguments and decide what direction to take the advice. She further stated that after difficult deliberations, and producing the final advice together, two Council members submitted letters to Cabinet stating they did not agree with the advice, which clearly lessened the strength of the SSRAC's consensus (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). Only one SSRAC member that I spoke with mentioned the incidence of members writing letters to Cabinet after the final advice document was created. Further interviews are necessary to understand why members were not in agreement with the rest of the Council and how their letters to Cabinet affected the regional planning process in the South Saskatchewan region.

The problem that was most difficult to reach consensus on was the designation of protected areas. Members disagreed on how to define conservation areas and how much economic activity should be allowed in protected areas (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012; Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012; Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). One member argued that a range of economic activities had been occurring on the land in Southern Alberta for over a century and it was therefore not realistic, or desirable, to create protected areas that disallowed all land use activities (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Other SSRAC members felt that the science and rationale behind choosing conservation areas was flawed (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012; Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). The SSRAC discussed how much it would cost industry to create conservation areas that prohibited economic activity. One SSRAC member argued that it was not a good classification system to compare the value to ecosystems of conservation with the monetary value of land use activities, such as oil and gas leases (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). In the end, the group decided on conservation management for areas rather than strict protection. Conservation management means that designated areas require a higher level of management than unprotected areas, but that a range of economic and recreational activities are still allowed on the land (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). One SSRAC

member summarized the conflict over conservation areas as at once the greatest success and the biggest failure of the regional planning process. On the one hand, important wildlife areas and endangered landscapes received a degree of protection that they did not have before the regional planning process. On the other hand, economic activity was considered the highest and best use of the land, and ecosystem health and habitat protection was not given enough weight when classifying conservation areas (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012).

Consensus is easier to reach when a process is planned from the beginning to foster respectful discussions. The SSRAC had clear ground rules and a competent facilitator. On the other hand consensus is difficult to reach when fundamental differences in priorities and definitions exist between stakeholders, as it did for the SSRAC in the debate over how to define conservation areas and what activities to allow on the land. Having a clear mandate about what the purpose of the groups discussions are will help to achieve consensus, however, it is also a reality that not all stakeholders agree on the end result.

6.5 Chapter Summary

From just seven interviews with Regional Council members and two interviews with environmental representatives, I recorded a diversity of experiences and thoughts on the South Saskatchewan regional planning process. I grouped these thoughts into four broad categories that helped me analyze the positives and negatives of the regional planning process, as experienced by Council members. First, the selection of SSRAC members was critiqued for not including a representative from the Alberta network of environmental non-governmental organizations. There was also only one person on the Council who had a strong grasp of Southern Alberta's water issues, which are central to planning problems in the region. Aboriginals were also underrepresented on the SSRAC because a First Nations member did not join the Council until the last three meetings. The lack of Aboriginal involvement in the SSRAC, a region that includes large First Nation reserves, needs to be examined further. Many SSRAC members stated that the Council was indeed diverse and had a range of experiences and knowledge to bring to the table. We can conclude that having a diverse and

representative stakeholder group, which is transparently selected, builds faith in the planning process and the accountability of Council members.

Second, representatives from the environmental sector stated that they had fewer political and financial resources and connections to express their opinions than the industry sector. For example, members of the environmental sector are usually volunteers and are not compensated for attending public input sessions. Furthermore, an industry member of the Council was able to convene a shadow committee to discuss regional planning issues during the SSRAC process. An environmental sector member, however, felt she was unable to meet with her community in the same way. Organizers should be clear about what information stakeholders are allowed to share with their communities. Organizers should also strive to provide adequate resources to all stakeholders to participate equally in the planning process.

Third, some Council members were frustrated by the amount of information and where it was coming from, and others accepted that government had to direct the flow of information. Most interviewees expressed frustration that water allocation was excluded from the SSRAC's mandate because it is such an important issue in the region. Many Council members experienced information overload and felt that too much of the information and recommendations were provided by the government without sufficient input from Council members. The flow of information did improve as the planning process progressed, but there were still difficulties with ensuring the diversity and transparency of information sources. Information was predominantly provided by provincial government departments, with some presentations from outside expertise and local municipalities. Council members did not have enough knowledge in all topics and this is reflected in the final advice document. To prevent problems with the scope of the mandate, and the amount and type of information reviewed, stakeholders should have more input, which will prevent disillusionment with the planning process and create a better final plan.

A final concern of Council members was the need to reach consensus on SSRAC advice. Voting was rare during the planning process and there were always clear majorities when voting did occur. Some participants felt that consensus was fairly easily reached, while others believed consensus came at a great cost. The most

contentious problem discussed by the Council was the designation of protected areas. Some SSRAC members felt that comparing the monetary cost to industry of disallowing economic activities to the value of protecting ecosystems, was an unfair and not scientifically sound way to classify conservation areas. Although conservation management, with close monitoring of economic activities, was decided on, some Council members were uneasy with this arrangement. Most discussions were amicable and members reached agreement on advice. The consensus process was largely successful because of the presence of facilitators and the outlining of clear ground rules from the beginning. It will always be a difficult, but necessary task, to find a balance between achieving consensus and producing meaningful planning outcomes.

CHAPTER 7: Analysis of Substantive Themes

Once the SSRAC advice document was released a number of organizations submitted letters detailing their thoughts on the Council's recommendations and the regional planning process in general. Members of the public also filled out workbooks commenting on the SSRAC's recommendations. In this chapter four our main themes that affect regional planning will be discussed: the importance of local autonomy and rural versus urban perceptions of regional planning, the need to balance environmental and development interests, the challenge of integrating water management and regional planning and the serious question of how regional plans will be implemented. These four dynamics were identified in my review of regional planning trends in Alberta and I therefore asked SSRAC members to expand on these topics in interviews. These four dynamics were also clearly articulated by Albertan organizations in their comments on the SSRAC's advice.

7.1 Local Autonomy and Rural-Urban Dynamics

The legacy of rural and urban tensions from past regional planning experiences in Alberta is still present today. The Calgary Regional Partnership (CRP), in existence since 2004, was created to pursue cooperative regional approaches to planning and service delivery (Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties, 2011). Direct rural, urban municipal conflict is evident in the Calgary Regional Partnership's creation of the Calgary Metropolitan Plan, which is not supported by rural members of the partnership. The South Saskatchewan Regional Planning Process is facing less obvious conflict between rural and urban interests, but members of the public, and some rural organizations, worry that the province's new regional planning process will fail to reflect the interests and perspective of rural residents.

Just one SSRAC member that I talked to discussed the Calgary Metropolitan Plan (CMP) for the Calgary region. He is from a rural district that is part of the Calgary Regional Partnership. He expressed his frustration with the CMP, which is supported only by urban members of the Calgary Regional Partnership and not supported by the rural members (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). Unlike the South Saskatchewan regional planning process, the Calgary Regional Partnership is not consensus based and therefore members try and get others in the partnership to vote with them. Grant believed that urban constituents effectively had veto power in the Calgary Regional Partnership because there are 13 urban municipalities and only 5 rural districts in the partnership. Furthermore he stated that it was much easier for urban members to politick within the CRP than rural members and that the need to politick with other members to make sure your concerns are heard is not a healthy planning process (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). A similar sentiment emerged during public consultations about the South Saskatchewan Regional planning process. The Calgary Metropolitan Plan was cited as a source of concern for many stakeholders who worried that the plan, and Calgary's interests, would hold too much sway over the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (Government of Alberta, 2010d).

The Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties (AAMDC) have produced a report that states similar frustrations with the CRP, as those stated by the SSRAC member I talked to. AAMDC's (2011) report on forced regionalization in Alberta offers some insight into why smaller municipalities and rural areas are resistant to regional planning. Forced regionalization, as defined by AAMDC, is any regional planning that has any of the following attributes: has non-voluntary participation, imposes a definition of a region, requires municipalities to compromise their political autonomy, results in hierarchical local government, has voting inequity or nonconsensus decision making, is based on a non-user pay cost sharing system, lacks individual municipal accountability, or does not provide an option for members to opt out of services. The AAMDC believes forced regionalization is necessary when no other options exist and a regional need is not being met, however, they believe conflict, or reluctance to participate, should not be cause for forced regionalization. They term the CRP forced regionalism because the partnership does not have consensus decision making, the partnership forces compliance, and the partnership does not have voting equity because Calgary has veto powers. The AAMDC argue that regional decision making could occur without the Calgary Metropolitan Plan by moving forward with actions that are consensually agreed on and by spending more time on building trust

and cooperation in areas that rural and urban members are not in agreement on (AAMDC, 2011). It remains to be seen if the Calgary Metropolitan Plan will be implemented or how it will interact with the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. The provincial government has stated that the CMP should be adopted and comply with the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (Government of Alberta, 2008).

Unlike the Calgary Regional Partnership, the SSRAC members I talked to did not have the same problem with rural-urban tension during meetings. Part of this is because Council members believed that the SSRP was an overriding plan that would guide land use decision-making, but not threaten municipal autonomy (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012; George, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Many of the recommendations in the SSRAC's advice document have more to do with rural areas than urban areas, since most of Alberta's protected landscapes and industrial, agricultural, and recreation activities are outside of major urban centers.

Although conflict between rural and urban interests is not as evident in the South Saskatchewan regional planning process there are still concerns about the role and independence of rural residents. Concern about rural-urban conflicts arose in the stakeholder sessions to garner public input on regional planning in Southern Alberta (Government of Alberta, 2010d). Participants at public input sessions near Calgary also expressed concern about rural-urban land use conflicts between residential developments and agricultural activities that border suburban areas (Government of Alberta, 2010c). Many participants discussed the need for protecting agricultural land and the rural way of life (Government of Alberta, 2010c).

Several attendees at public consultations also felt that urban dwellers were not aware of the contributions rural and agricultural areas make to the economy and Alberta as a whole (Government of Alberta, 2010c). In their comments on the SSRAC's advice, the Western Stock Growers' Association (2010) voiced their disappointment that the Council's advice did not highlight the special knowledge and experiences of rural people in the region. Mirroring these comments from the public, the SSRAC member from a rural district stated that urban residents do not understand or appreciate rural people's connection to the land or the major contribution that activities in rural areas make to the regional and provincial economy (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). From the above statements a strong sentiment emerges that the rural way of life is threatened, misunderstood and undervalued.

Another public concern expressed in regional planning consultations is the loss of local autonomy and private property rights, which are extremely important to rural residents who have a strong connection to the land. In public consultations about the SSRAC Terms of Reference, Municipal stakeholders were consistently concerned about losing local autonomy to make land use decisions (Government of Alberta, 2010d). Distrust of the provincial government was expressed by a few participants who worried that the government "had a hidden agenda and was simply using the regional plan to introduce a regional government, as in other provinces" (Government of Alberta, 2010d, p. 15). Clearly returning to permanent Regional Planning Commissions, like those that existed before 1995, is not desired by some members of the public.

Opposition to the Land Stewardship Act, which was fueled by a lawyer from the Wildrose party, was based on misinformation that rural land owners would lose their property rights if the Act was passed (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012; Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). One SSRAC member believed that rural concerns with the regional planning process are based on a fear that personal rights and freedoms will be taken away (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). He describes public consultation as the tool to reduce fear and to generate public support for regional planning. In the Terms of Reference for the SSRAC, as well as in the Councils' advice to the government, it is made very clear that regional planning will not usurp local autonomy. One SSRAC member stated that the Council tried to keep substantial "authority in local hands, rather than big brother in Edmonton" (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Promisingly, another SSRAC member stated that there is little opposition for regionally managing the land in urban and rural areas, just opposition to the potential that the Land Stewardship Act will restrict property rights (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012).

The history of concern over local autonomy and municipal independence in Alberta is an important rationale for not infringing on local municipalities' rights. However, being overly cautious of restricting municipalities land use decisions may

result in plans that are less effective in achieving sustainability. Decision makers must work within the constraints of long held perceptions of rural disadvantage in regional planning. On the other hand, decision makers must also create opportunities for working towards the common goal held by all Albertans: to manage the land sustainably. As seen with the failure of the Calgary Metropolitan Partnership, consensus approaches stand a better chance of bringing rural and urban perspectives together to find common ground. Although the SSRAC has steered clear of rural-urban conflicts, implementation of the future South Saskatchewan Regional Plan will test the ability of rural and urban municipalities to work together to achieve management goals. Involving the public throughout the creation of regional plans and their implementation will provide a platform for Albertans to express their thoughts on rural and urban issues.

7.2 Environmental and Economic Balance

Alberta's new regional planning process is undoubtedly more holistic than past regional planning initiatives in the province. I spoke with an individual from the environmental sector with over 40 years experience working on integrated regional plans in the province. She noted that past regional planning was focused on settlement in urban areas and resource development in rural areas, with little comprehensive planning that combined organization of where people live with management of environmental resources (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012). The difficulty of holistic regional planning is achieving a balance between economic stability and a healthy environment. One SSRAC member summarized the complicated nature of regional planning as people "trying to plan for the future" while balancing different interests and "making hard decisions" (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). The need to balance economic growth with environmental health and social justice is challenging for all decision makers, particularly when sectors seem so fundamentally in conflict with one another (Hodge & Robinson, 2001). Regional planners must navigate the sometimes very different perspectives and values of the industry and environmental sector.

At the beginning of the regional planning process in Southern Alberta the public was quick to identify the need to balance environmental and economic interests. In workbooks on the Terms of Reference for the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, respondents argued that the province must shift from prioritizing economic development to prioritizing sustainable development and conservation (Government of Alberta, 2010b). Many respondents also recognized the negative effects of urban sprawl and the need to manage economic and urban growth. On the other hand, the need for a viable, healthy economy was also noted by members of the public and agriculture was rated the most important economic activity in the region. In comments about all industries (agriculture, energy production, tourism and recreation, and forestry) respondents called for more sustainable practices (Government of Alberta, 2010b).

When it came time for the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council to meet, there was less opposition between industry and environmental interests than one SSRAC member expected (George, personal communication, June 15, 2012). Some SSRAC members stated that Council members were very respectful in discussions and consensus was reached on most topics (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012; George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Despite the Council's amicability, however, members from the environmental and industries sectors did have, what one SSRAC member termed, "radically opposing views" on certain topics (George, personal communication, June 15, 2012). For example, business orientated and environmental orientated SSRAC members held very different perspectives on what constituted a wetland protection policy or what land use activities should be allowed in conservation areas (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012; Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012).

The final SSRAC advice document tries to accommodate all land use activities and balance multiple interests. A serious criticism of the SSRAC recommendations is that difficult choices are not made between competing land uses. The Environmental Law Centre (2012) notes that Alberta has historically planned within a multiple use framework where all activities are possible on the land. The Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative (2012) argues that the SSRAC's advice does not address the "foundational challenges" of managing "multiple uses on a finite and increasingly fragmented land base" (p. 9). With a stressed water system, endangered landscapes and species and the uncertain affects of climate change, landscapes in Southern Alberta can no longer support multiple land use activities at the same time. Unfortunately the SSRAC advice to the province does not identify the inherent conflicts between a growing economy and a healthy environment.

The Alberta Wilderness Association (AWA) argue that the SSRAC's advice was conflictual because the Council suggests that all land use activities can be accommodated by the ecosystem, while also stating that land use must be managed to protect headwaters and watersheds. For example, the Council recommends expanding irrigation districts, while simultaneously stating that access to water may limit agricultural development. The AWA (2012) think that the SSRAC are not recognizing the need to make difficult choices about land use activities or the fact that working with limited water may lead to conflicts. They argue that by not recognizing potential land use incompatibilities, the recommendations fall short of supplying priorities in case of conflict, or a decision making process that can deal with development and environment trade-offs. Once again it is important to recognize that the SSRAC could not provide a one size fits all solution for balancing the environment and the economy. However, the SSRAC could have been clearer about the process for municipal actors to make hard decisions between different uses of the land, such as accommodating irrigation demands and protecting native grassland ecosystems.

When I spoke with a member of the Alberta Wildlife Association she explained that the recommendations for both the Lower Athabasca Region and the South Saskatchewan Region were too vague about how cumulative effects management would be used to balance environmental and economic needs (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). Jill also thought the province was allowing too much industrial activity on landscapes that should be protected. She believed that the role of the SSRAC was to work out priorities between land use goals that may be mutually exclusive, such as expanding irrigation and growing the recreation sector, while protecting water resources. She argued that one reason why the SSRAC did not make more difficult choices between the economy and the environment is because individuals from the Alberta Environmental Network, who might have taken a stronger policy stance on issues, were not at the discussion table (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). Interviews must be conducted with government officials, who were in charge of choosing SSRAC members, to determine why the province did not pick any of the environmental sector individuals suggested by the AWA. At this point it is hard to tell how different environmental representatives would have affected the SSRAC's advice, particularly when it came to discussing topics that were outside the Council's mandate, such as water allocation.

Aside from the Alberta Wilderness Association, a number of organizations wrote letters commenting on the SSRAC's advice to the provincial government. Common to all letters was the concern that the SSRAC's recommendations were skewed in the direction of economic growth over environmental health. The valuing of the economy over the environment is difficult to avoid in a society that subscribes to a growth paradigm and works to satisfy present needs for jobs and wealth over longer term goals of ecosystem health. For example, the Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative (2012) states that the Council's recommendations appear to "favour accelerated development, with an uncertain commitment to conservation" (p. 3). Likewise, the Environmental Law Centre (2012) argues that the South Saskatchewan Region is in a state of imbalance because historical water allocations do not protect environmental health. It further argues that allowing more land conversion for agriculture threatens the region's biodiversity. The Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society (2011) also believes that the SSRAC's recommendations emphasize economic growth and fail to identify when priority will be given to environmental and cultural concerns over development. The City of Calgary (2011) worries that the SSRAC's recommendations are simply "business as usual" where resource extraction and economic development trump environmental and social priorities. The City is particularly concerned about the "status" quo approach to water management" in the SSRAC advice document (p. 2). With water constraints in the South Saskatchewan region, regional planners must pursue an integrated approach to water management that may restrict some land use activities in favour of protecting the region's watersheds.

Concern about the balance between development and conservation is not unique to the South Saskatchewan Region. In Northeastern Alberta, the Athabasca Region encompasses much of the oil sands development which has brought growth, development and environmental pressures to the province (Government of Alberta,

2008). Just like comments on the SSRP, members of the public expressed concerns about the balance of economic, social and environmental interests in the Lower Athabasca region (Government of Alberta, 2010a). Workbook Respondents stated that environmental assets need to be better protected and taken into account in decision making about land use (Government of Alberta, 2010a). Members of the public also stated that the pace of economic development in Lower Athabasca is too fast to fairly distribute benefits across the region and mitigate the negative impacts of development on ecosystems. Additionally many participants felt that the Lower Athabasca Regional Advisory Council's advice that 20 percent of the land base be conserved was too little. Respondents argued that more land must be protected to ensure adequate habitat for threatened wildlife, such as caribou. Comments on the Lower Athabasca regional planning process highlight the commonality of trying to achieve balance in regional planning no matter what the local conditions are. Because the Lower Athabasca process is further ahead than the South Saskatchewan Region, the Athabasca plan also provides some clues as to what may occur in Southern Alberta. The Alberta Wilderness Association (2012) fears that a reduction in the percentage of conservation areas that occurred in the Lower Athabasca region will also happen in the South Saskatchewan region.

Instead of acknowledging that there may be conflicts between different interests when deciding what land use activities can occur in the South Saskatchewan Region, the SSRAC tried to focus on accommodating all interests. One SSRAC member talked about the need to find "win, win" situations where management actions are ecologically and economically beneficial to everyone involved (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Bob explained that regional planning initiatives will be adopted more quickly when management actions help the environment, but also provide some compensation for individuals who have to change the way they use the land. Ecological goods and services is one tool the SSRAC recommended for improving the health of ecosystems, while providing remuneration for people who choose to do something for the "betterment of the environment on behalf of society" (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Of course the problem with this tool is that it is reliant on government funds, which are not consistently available. It is also difficult to decide what monetary

value should be placed on different actions that improve or protect the environment in the short and long term. Furthermore, only taking action when there is a positive outcome for all involved is not always possible. A researcher of collaborative planning approaches, Margerum (2011) notes that finding win-win solutions is often a principle of collaborative planning groups. He explains, though, that win-win scenarios are not always available and reallocating the costs and benefits of management actions may "confront value differences that cannot be easily overcome" (p. 57).

Regional planning initiatives should accommodate multiple interests, but in order to be effective and implementable regional plans must also set broad priorities and identify which priorities take precedent over others, so that elected officials and municipal planners can identify when different land uses are simply not compatible. Individuals in favour of economic development and those in favour of environmental protection cannot both be accommodated at all times and in all areas of the South Saskatchewan Region. Tensions between different users will cause the most difficulty when it comes to implementation. Potential conflicts should be acknowledged upfront so that solutions and resolution processes can be developed at an early stage.

7.3 Water Management and Regional Planning

Regional plans in Alberta are meant to align with the Water for Life strategy and help achieve water management outcomes. The SSRAC's water management suggestions, although superficial, do appear to be in line with the goals of the Water for Life strategy. The SSRAC (2011) state that the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan will help achieve provincial goals to increase water conservation, efficiency and productivity and implement regional and local water management plans. It is proving difficult, however, to truly integrate water management and the South Saskatchewan regional planning process. The Water for Life strategy and the Land-Use Framework have been developing simultaneously. Now that regional plans are being created the two tracks of water management and land use planning must be linked (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012). Most of the questions about integration of regional planning and water management are questions of implementation. For example one

SSRAC member expressed confusion over when water management plans or regional plans will take precedent (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012).

Most stakeholders agree that regional planning and water management need to be integrated in Alberta, but defining what will be covered by Watershed Stewardship Groups and what will be discussed by Regional Advisory Councils is difficult. For example, the SSRAC never set water limits for rivers in the region because of the limited time frame of the Council's meetings (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). The Watershed Planning and Advisory Council for the Bow River instead set limits for seven reaches of the river (Bob, personal communication). It is not always clear which process will be responsible for which planning or management decision or how the two will work together.

Different areas of the South Saskatchewan region deal with different water problems and it is challenging to provide solutions for these problems in regional plans. One SSRAC member explained the different water problems that affect different areas in the region (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). He states that in the Red Deer and Foothills area, watershed groups concentrate on protecting headwaters from pollution. In the Bow River in Calgary, watershed groups focus on downstream contamination and setting standards for all users. Further south in the region, groups are concerned with ensuring enough water to go around and with debating how water markets could regulate the distribution of water resources. Common to the whole region, however, is that because no new water allocations are allowed for most of the basins in Southern Alberta, there is a form of water scarcity in the region (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Individuals or developments that need water have to purchase it from someone who already holds a water license. One SSRAC member noted that there is no established process or schedule of fees for trading water licenses (Chris, personal communication, June 15, 2012). As previously noted, some stakeholders are unhappy with water allocations being outside of the SSRAC's mandate since it is such a pressing issue in the South Saskatchewan Region (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012; Government of Alberta, 2010d; Western Stock Growers Association, 2010).

The regional planning process in Alberta can learn a great deal from the collaborative success of watershed groups. Unlike the regional planning process, which is instigated by the province, the Water for Life strategy builds on the work of already existing local watershed groups in Alberta (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). The model of collaborative watershed planning between water users and municipalities was adopted by the government, who rationalized the process for the whole province and provided funding for watershed groups. The government also created the Alberta Water Council, whose main responsibility is to develop policy recommendations for water management across the province. Watershed groups have been fairly successful in generating support, bringing together multiple interests and communicating management objectives to a range of stakeholders (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012).

Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils (WPACs) are voluntary organizations. One SSRAC member argued that in order to get people from different sectors and industries to participate, representatives must feel there is some value to participating. She further stated that Council members must establish good relationships with each other (Nancy, personal communication, June 1). WPACs have so far done a great job of engaging communities and creating excellent water quality objectives. For example, a member of Bow River WPAC made sure to speak with municipal councillors along the river and identify opportunities for partnerships, in order to build capacity and achieve water management goals (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012).

Although there is a great deal of local support for the work that WPACs do, water management plans must have legislative authority, like regional plans do, to ensure that they are implemented (Nancy, personal communication, June 1, 2012). So far WPACs have largely had to fend for themselves in determining how to implement their mandates and there needs to be more provincial support and direction (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). As Nancy explains, if water management plans are incorporated into regional plans, that are approved by Cabinet, the province has more power to enforce water management and municipal governments have the provincial support they need to include water management objectives in local planning documents. Mary and Jill argue that regulatory power is necessary to take water

management plans from conception to implementation. Regulatory and legislative support will also ensure that high quality water management plans are created and implemented in all of Alberta's river basins, not just in watersheds with particularly committed stakeholders like the Bow River (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). Ultimately the objectives of regional planning, to guide development and manage its impacts on the land, air and water systems, will not be successful if water management plans are not also supported by the government.

7.4 Implementation Challenges

The public, the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council and organizations in Southern Alberta all have questions about how the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan will be implemented. Participants in public consultations were concerned with the complexity and challenges of implementing a regional plan (Government of Alberta, 2010d). A number of SSRAC members questioned when and how the regional plan will be implemented (Kevin, personal communication; Phil, personal communication; George, personal communication). Organizations lamented the lack of specificity about implementation in the SSRAC's advice to the government (Environmental Law Centre, 2012). Stakeholders are concerned about implementing regional plans with a shared governance model, without sustained political commitment, with a lack of clear direction or definitions, and without adequate capacity. In the SSRAC's terms of reference the Government of Alberta (2009) states that the province will determine how the regional plan is implemented after it is approved. Some discussion of implementation possibilities would have been helpful during the SSRAC process, and in public consultations, to alleviate confusion and ensure that the SSRAC's advice is actually implementable.

Alberta's new regional planning process is quite different from past regional planning in the province, where Regional Planning Commissions had representatives from all municipalities who could oversee implementation and compliance of local plans with regional goals. The new model for water management and regional planning is based on shared responsibility. When it comes to water, shared responsibility means that multiple levels of government, and a range of organizations and volunteers across Alberta, take part in the creation of water policy and objectives and the implementation of water management actions (see Figure 1 in Section 4.1). One SSRAC member, who is also involved in the Alberta Water Council, stated that collaborative, shared responsibility planning models make it difficult to solve problems and progress to implementation (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Because so many people participate in regional planning and water management, and so many view points must be considered in a collaborative planning model, it takes longer to implement actions and it is difficult to communicate with and coordinate all participating actors. With the Water for Life strategy, responsibility is divided between the provincial government which controls policy, Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils which provide policy advice and Watershed Stewardship Groups which implement water management actions. It can be frustrating to work within a shared governance model. There is a desire to simply grant someone the authority to carry out a policy or management action without discussing it with a range of people or having to reach consensus through lengthy meetings (George, personal communication). Reaching consensus is hard enough, but working out who is responsible for which outcomes can be even more challenging. The Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative (2012) noted that many land and resource policies in the province have been derailed in the past by a lack of coordination between provincial departments and multiple levels of government.

Political commitment is one of the most important aspects for ensuring implementation of regional plans. One SSRAC member noted that regional planning fell apart in the 1990s because there was no broad base of political commitment to regional planning (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012). He worries that political commitment will also be lacking with the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. It has been over a year and half since the SSRAC's recommendations were made public, but the regional planning process stalled because of the provincial election. One SSRAC member even highlighted the inconsistency of regional planning in Alberta by exclaiming that if the Wildrose party had been elected the Land-use Framework would have been thrown out (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). Now that concern over the Land-use Framework threatening private property rights has passed, the cabinet has

expressed its intention to complete regional plans (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). The Lower Athabasca Regional Plan was released in August 2012 and will be followed soon by the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. It remains to be seen, however, if the province will sustain a commitment to regional planning over the long term, particularly because implementation is so unclear. Regional plans need to be completed as soon as possible so that municipal governments have provincial legislative support for aligning local land use planning with the SSRAC's recommendations (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012). When developers or land owners come to municipalities with land use proposals Municipal councils must have the backing of provincially legislated regional plans to support their rationale for refusing or accepting a development (Grant, personal communication, May 9, 2012).

A number of public respondents said that implementation depends upon clear definitions of concepts (Government of Alberta, 2010b). Terms like conservation or sustainable recreation access can mean very different things to different people and so management actions can not be taken without some agreement on terms. The Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative (2012) stated that the SSRAC's objectives were imprecise, which leads to confusion during implementation. The Environmental Law Centre (2012) argues that terms used by the SSRAC such as "responsible stewardship or "where reasonably possible" are undefined and allow for non-action. The Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society (2011) reach a similar conclusion about the vagueness of terms in the SSRAC's advice. The Society states that terms like "where feasible" leave implementation open to interpretation, lead to a lack of accountability and fail to specify "what lands will be prioritized for which purpose" (p. 6).

Because of the unclear terms used in the SSRAC's recommendation, stakeholders worry that the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan, as well as the work of Watershed Planning and Advisory Councils, will be simply aspirational (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012; Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). The Environmental Law Centre (2012) is concerned with the lack of details on how conservation areas will be managed in a way that creates "accountability for outcomes". The Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative (2012) also argue that the conservation tools outlined by the SSRAC are incomplete and their effectiveness at

conserving the land have not been established. One SSRAC member noted that a major flaw in the Council's recommendations is that some statements are "wishful thinking" (Bob, personal communication, May 3, 2012). As an example, he points to the SSRAC's recommendation to "maintain and, to the greatest degree possible, restore riparian function" (SSRAC, 2011, p. 26). The statement "to the greatest degree possible" does not designate someone to be in charge of implementation, or identify how riparian health will be prioritized, or designate the amount of financial resources the government will commit to improving riparian areas. A more implementable regional plan would identify measurable objectives and standards and identify how far the government is willing to go to restore riparian function. Bob states that more direct regional planning recommendations would "actually get something done" while some of the SSRAC's vague regional planning statements are just wishes (Bob, personal communication).

Capacity is the final vital component of effective implementation. The Environmental Law Centre (2012) notes that government must have the capacity to monitor, assess, regulate and enforce regional plans. The Centre argues that the SSRAC's recommendations fail to provide any direction for ensuring accountability. The SSRAC also does not identify how regional actors will gain adequate capacity to implement and monitor regional plans (Environmental Law Centre, 2012). Municipal governance was explicitly outside of the SSRAC's terms of reference and therefore the Council's recommendations do not address how municipalities will be able to implement the regional plan (Mary, personal communication, May 7, 2012; Government of Alberta, 2009b). The City of Calgary (2011) is concerned that the SSRAC does not mention how municipalities will be required to align their regulatory instruments with the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan, how municipalities will address population growth in urban areas, how municipalities will handle concurrent infrastructure requirements or how municipalities can implement the South Saskatchewan Plan with budgetary constraints. The City also questions how the Calgary Metropolitan Plan will be incorporated into the South Saskatchewan Plan.

What are the options available for implementing regional plans? As it currently stands, the provincial Land Use Secretariat is in charge of leading implementation. One SSRAC member believes that the government will not return to the structure of

Regional Planning Commissions that were in existence before 1995 in the province (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). Instead he suggests that a more collaborative approach will be used with perhaps a government department spearheading implementation or a consultant group coordinating implementation. He states that the question of implementation will likely be foremost in the next stage of public consultations on the provincially produced South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. The provincial government will be listening to the public's opinions on implementation, but it may be another year or more before anyone is officially given the responsibility for implementation of regional planning in the South Saskatchewan Region (George, personal communication, June 21, 2012). At this stage we must hope that forthcoming implementation systems will be supported by government and clearly defined, and that those responsible for implementation will have defined roles and have sufficient capacity and tools for implementation and monitoring.

7.5 Chapter Summary

The problems that accompany regional planning in Alberta are varied, but the four larger dynamics outlined in this chapter have complicated regional planning processes in the past and continue to do so. First, the desire for local autonomy and tensions between urban and rural residents makes it difficult to create local support for regional planning that is provincially controlled. The Calgary Regional Partnership must address the problems between rural and urban members before attempting to implement the soon to be released South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. The provincial government must foster a constructive dialogue between rural and urban stakeholders so that all Albertans can focus on the shared vision of sustainable balance between the environment, economy and society.

Second, the different, and sometimes incompatible, interests of industrial and environmental sectors make it challenging to find a balance between development and the environment. This challenge will never go away, but Alberta can move towards sustainable development if it puts environmental concerns at the forefront of all decision making. Regional planning is one step in the direction of sustainable development, but the government must not fall into assuming a status quo when it comes to implementation. Regional Advisory Councils must be assured that they can, and should, make strong recommendations about land use priorities and trade-offs, which will guide municipalities and organizations during implementation.

Third, the complicated and interconnected nature of water and land use problems is not easily translated into clear policies or integrated coordination of stakeholders, policies and plans. In order to support regional planning Watershed Stewardship and Advisory Councils must be given the regulatory and financial tools tools to implement their excellent water management plans. Water Management Plans must be given the same legislative support as Regional Plans and the interactions between the two plans must be clearly communicated to all stakeholders.

Fourth, the inherent complexity of implementing comprehensive, holistic regional plans makes it difficult to define who is responsible and how management actions will be followed through and monitored. Much of the criticism of the SSRAC's advice is based on a fear that planning recommendations will be watered down when it comes to implementation and that the unknown strategy of implementation will not be effective. Time will tell, but one thing is certain: the government should consult the public and stakeholders when determining the implementation strategy. In the next and final chapter, I will summarize my findings on regional planning and suggest preliminary solutions to the challenges of collaborative planning processes in Alberta.

CHAPTER 8: Conclusion

My interest in regional planning is an interest in process. I asked the question what elements are required for a successful collaborative, consensus based planning approach. I further asked what broad challenges exist to regional planning in Alberta. To examine the regional planning process in Alberta I chose the South Saskatchewan Region as a case study. To answer my research questions I conducted a literature review on collaborative planning processes, examined provincial policy and comments from non-governmental organizations and municipalities, and conducted interviews with members of the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council and the Alberta Environmental Network.

Regional planning is not new to Alberta, but it has changed over the years. Hodge and Robinson (2001) summarize the key changes in regional planning over the last century. First, they state that early initiatives were biased towards physical planning, while new regional approaches are focused on sustainability and ecosystem planning. Second, regional planning today focuses on consensus building, volunteerism, a decentralized organization structure and more horizontal networking. Finally, there is now a larger involvement of interest groups and stakeholders in regional planning (Hodge & Robinson, 2001).

In many ways Alberta's new regional planning process is an improvement compared to past approaches. For example, one member of the environmental sector stated that the public is now more aware of environmental concerns than they were 30 years ago (Jill, personal communication, May 14, 2012). The province has responded to the public by using regional plans as a tool for achieving better balance between economic, environmental and social needs. One SSRAC member notes that there is more opportunity for the public to have input into regional planning than with past initiatives (Phil, personal communication, May 4, 2012). Regional Advisory Councils made up of stakeholders, as well as multiple public consultation phases, result in a more democratic planning process. Despite these improvements, regional planners in Alberta still struggle to overcome the challenges that defined the process in the time of Regional Planning Commissions before 1995. Most notably a tension between rural and urban perspectives, the difficulty of balancing environmental and economic needs and the challenge of implementing regional plans with sustained political commitment. To tackle the problems of regional planning require attention to the process of how plans are created. My interviews with SSRAC members provided a snapshot of one aspect of the regional planning process, which highlighted the inner workings of a consensus group and illuminated the broader challenges of regional planning.

Regional planning is inherently complex, but it is also a valuable planning field that can provide solutions to resource and development problems that occur across municipal jurisdictions and landscapes. Although regional planning is anchored firmly in the local context, many of the challenges of regional planning across Canada and around the world involve how to coordinate stakeholders. In conducting interviews and analyzing letters and documents, I discovered that the challenges identified by stakeholders in the South Saskatchewan Region were the same as the challenges identified in the environmental management literature. Terms such as transparency, commitment, capacity, knowledge, balance and consensus are really about the ability of stakeholders to participate in the planning process. Let's review these concepts as they relate to the small scale challenges of the SSRACs meetings and the large scale challenges of sustaining regional planning in Alberta, with the hope of identifying what is needed to improve the regional planning process in the province.

First, selecting members for a stakeholder group determines how representative, accountable and knowledgeable a group is. Although the SSRAC was quite diverse, First Nations were underrepresented, only appearing on the Council towards the end of the process. There was also no one from the Alberta Environmental Network on the SSRAC and the Council was particularly missing people with more extensive water knowledge. To ensure transparency in the future the government of Alberta should explain how they chose Council members and why. Additionally the province should provide adequate resources to potential participants so that individuals can be Council members even when they might not have the same time and money as other participants.

Second, political connections and social capital are also important resources that are unevenly distributed among SSRAC members. Members of the environmental

sector felt limited in their capacity to present their interests because their work is voluntary and they have fewer resources and political connections than the industry sector. Although some stakeholders may have more connections than others, defining the process will help eliminate lobbying outside of Council meetings. Organizers need to clearly state what the role of Council members is outside of stakeholder meetings and what members can discuss with groups outside of the Council. The province should also provide compensation for stakeholders who want to travel to public consultation sessions.

Third, It is difficult to define the scope of regional planning and determine the amount and type of information provided to stakeholders. Some SSRAC members were frustrated by the amount of information from the provincial government and the lack of attention paid to Council members' ideas. The SSRAC also wished that water allocation had been a part of the Council's mandate. The province must not shy away from including topics in stakeholder discussions simply because they are contentious. Organizers should also give stakeholders more credit for being able to absorb information beforehand, so that meetings are more productive and there is more time for discussion and exchange of ideas between government officials and stakeholders.

Fourth, consensus approaches to decision making are complex and time consuming, but well worth the effort. Organizers, including facilitators and outside consulting groups, did a great job with the SSRAC in laying out ground rules to keep discussions respectful. The designation of conservation areas caused the most disagreement between Council members, particularly those who wanted to continue a range of economic activities on the land and those who wanted to limit industry activities in protected areas. Some council members were not in agreement with the SSRAC's final advice to the province. It is important to not be discouraged when stakeholder groups cannot reach consensus, but the government needs to take a closer look at why some members were not able to reach consensus and what can be done about improving consensus processes in other Regional Advisory Councils.

The broader challenges to regional planning emerged in SSRAC interviews, in comments from Albertan organizations and in public consultations. First, local autonomy and rural-urban dynamics complicates regional planning in Alberta. Many feel the rural

way of life is undervalued and threatened, while others worry that regional planning will limit local autonomy and private property rights. The Calgary Regional Partnership demonstrates the split between urban and rural values and objectives. The Calgary Metropolitan Plan is not supported by rural members and is not based on consensus. Although the South Saskatchewan Regional planning process has encountered less tension between rural and urban constituents, problems will likely occur during implementation, particularly at the local level. The best solution to mitigate animosity between rural and urban constituents is to have consensus based planning processes and to provide multiple platforms for the public and stakeholders to engage in regional planning discussions that affect both rural and urban areas.

A second major challenge of regional planning is balancing environmental and economic interests. Although the mandate of the SSRAC was to identify ways to balance economic, environmental and social needs, the Council took an overly optimistic approach. In the SSRAC's final advice document trade-offs between different interests were not identified and the Council stated that all land use activities can occur in the region. Many groups criticized the SSRAC for too heavily supporting development over environmental protection and not providing clear direction for when different land use activities will be prioritized. The SSRAC tried to identify win-win situations where both industry and the environment can benefit. This is a worthwhile endeavor, but regional plans must also identify when some land uses are not compatible. In future Regional Advisory Councils (RACs) the government should make clear that the point of RACs is to identify conflicts between different interests and prioritize land uses. If RACs continue to ignore potential land use conflicts the province will have more difficult challenges during implementation.

A third dynamic is integrating water management and regional planning. It is still very early in Alberta's regional planning process and there is understandably confusion over how regional plans will be integrated with water management plans. The province must ensure both water management plans and regional plans have legislative and regulatory authority. Authorities must be able to enforce the actions in regional and water plans or all the hard work of stakeholder groups will not be implementable. The government needs to decide how water management plans and regional plans will be practically integrated. Part of this integration will be creating processes for communication between government departments and all stakeholders involved. Watershed partnerships must also be provided with sufficient resources to carry out their mandates.

A final pressing question is how will regional plans be implemented. The province must be sure to sustain political commitment to regional planning, even through political elections. Regional Advisory Councils and the government must also define terms and concepts to avoid confusion during implementation. The SSRAC's final advice document relies too heavily on vague, non-committal language. The regional plan should have clearer policies with standards for development and conservation as well as processes for monitoring and enforcement. Future Regional Advisory Councils should be encouraged to write their advice more directly and when possible identify who should be responsible for achieving regional objectives. Another important component of implementation is capacity. A long term goal of the province should be to build capacity among all stakeholders to participate in regional planning and implement actions. Attention should be paid to matching resources and training to the level of responsibility placed on stakeholders, planning agencies and municipalities. The most important component of implementation will be continuous monitoring, feedback and adjustment of actions to ensure regional plans are responsive to local conditions.

I have identified a number of key challenges to regional planning and possible solutions, but the work has just begun. The question could still be asked, why study regional planning in Southern Alberta specifically. My answer is that Alberta's new regional planning process is a microcosm of planning trends in general. Regional planning in Alberta demonstrates the desire to make planning more collaborative, with increased stakeholder and public input, and to make planning more integrated and sustainable, with a focus on how development will affect environmental resources, such as water. Further research should examine the participation of particular groups, such as First Nations or the environmental sector, in regional planning processes in other locations can also illuminate further challenges and opportunities in regional planning.

Researchers should also continue to examine regional planning in the South Saskatchewan Region, to assess the process as it moves towards implementation.

As I have shown, collaborative, integrated regional planning processes are difficult to create and sustain. However, regional and urban planners can play important roles in highlighting these challenges and finding solutions. As Hodge and Robinson (2001) note, the social skills of planners are now highly valued. There is now a larger role for the planner in helping to define planning processes and ensure stakeholder and public input. Regional planning is as much about figuring out how people can work together as it is about creating objectives for a watershed or planning a regional transportation network. Effective regional planning depends upon an examination of collaborative regional approaches that combine environmental management and social-cultural diversity with urban and rural planning. In the end the proof is in the plan. A successful planning process will be more likely to produce an implementable, comprehensive regional plan and as one SSRAC member noted everyone will forget about the mess it took to get there (Kevin, personal communication, May 3, 2012).

Reference List

- Agrawal, A. (2003). Sustainable governance of common-pool resources: Context, methods, and politics. *Annual Review of Anthropology, 32*, 243-262.
- Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties [AAMDC], & Alberta Urban Municipalities Association. (1980). *Municipal attitudes towards regional planning in Alberta: attitudes of selected urban and rural municipalities on Regional Planning Agencies in Alberta*. Edmonton, AB: Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties.
- Alberta Association of Municipal Districts and Counties. (2011). *Finding local solutions: Examining the impacts of forced regionalization*. Retrieved from http:// aamdc.com/component/attachments/download/123
- Alberta Environment. (2003). *Water for life: Alberta's strategy for sustainability* (Report No. 0-7785-3058-2). Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Environment website: http://environment.gov.ab.ca/info/library/6190.pdf.
- Alberta Land Stewardship Act, Statues of Alberta (2009, A-26.8). Retrieved from the Government of Alberta website: http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/Acts/ A26P8.pdf
- Alberta Water Council. (2011). *Moving from words to actions: Recommendations to improve communication, coordination and collaboration between and among Water for Life partnerships*. Retrieved from Alberta Water Council website: http:// www.albertawatercouncil.ca/Projects/MovingfromWordstoActions/tabid/133/ Default.aspx
- Alberta Water Council. (2007). *Shared governance model and watershed management planning framework.* Retrieved from Alberta Water Council website: http:// www.albertawatercouncil.ca/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=UGmWWM8trAs %3d&tabid=133
- Alberta Wilderness Association. (2012). *Review of advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan.* Retrieved from the Alberta Wilderness Association website: www.AlbertaWilderness.ca

Alberta Urban Municipalities Association [AUMA]. (2008). *Operationalizing land use planning in Alberta*. Retrieved from the AUMA website: http://www.auma.ca/live/digitalAssets/

21/21295_Operationalizing_Land_Use_Planning_in_Alberta_1008.pdf

- Beaumier, G. (1998). *Regional Development in Canada*. Retrieved from the Government of Canada Publications website: http://publications.gc.ca/Collection-R/LoPBdP/CIR/8813-e.htm#C.%20The%20Creation
- Berkes, F. (2004). Rethinking community-based conservation. *Conservation Biology, 18* (2), 621-630.
- Berzins, W. E., Harrison, R., & Watson, P. (2006). Implementation of the Alberta Water for Life strategy: Strategic partnerships in action. *Water Science & Technology*, 53(10), 255-260.
- Brody, S. D. (2003). Measuring the effects of stakeholder participation on the quality of local plans based on the principles of collaborative ecosystem management.
 Journal of Planning Education and Research 22, 407-419. doi: 10.1177/0739456X022004007
- Burroughs, R. (1999). When stakeholders choose: Process, knowledge, and motivation in water quality decisions. *Society and Natural Resources, 12*(8), 797-809.
- Burton, P., Goodlad, R., & Croft, J. (2006). How would we know what works? Context and complexity in the evaluation of community involvement. *Evaluation, 12*(3), 294-312. doi: 10.1177/1356389006069136
- Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society. (2011). Comments regarding the Regional Advisory Council advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Retrieved from the Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society website: http://cpaws-southernalberta.org/upload/ CPAWS_input_SSRP_RAC_recommendations_FINAL.pdf

City of Calgary. (2011). The City of Calgary's proposed response to the Regional Advisory Council's advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Retrieved from the City of Calgary website: http:// agendaminutes.calgary.ca/sirepub/cache/2/ yd0de1aekad23eju2535x345/7289606072012030343747.PDF

- Climenhaga, D. J. (1997). *The death and life of regional planning in the Calgary area.* (Unpublished graduate dissertation). Carleton University Ottawa, Ontario. (0-612-22132-6).
- Dinar, A., Kemper, K. E., & Blomquist, W. (2007). *Integrated river basin management through decentralization*. Berlin: Springer.
- Environmental Law Centre. (2012). Comments on South Saskatchewan Regional Advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Retrieved from the Environmental Law Centre website: http://www.elc.ab.ca/ Content_Files/Files/CommentsSSRPApril302012.pdf
- Gardner, A. (2008). *Comments on the Draft Land Use Framework.* Retrieved from the Southern Alberta Land Trust Society website: http://www.salts-landtrust.org/docs/D_080620_LUF_comments.pdf
- Ghitter, G., & Smart, A. (2008). Mad cows, regional governance, and urban sprawl: Path dependence and unintended consequences in the Calgary region. *Urban Affairs Review, 44*(5), 617-644. doi: 10.1177/1078087408325257
- Government of Alberta. (2008). *Land-Use Framework*. Retrieved from the Government of Alberta website: http://www.edmonton.ca/environmental/documents/ Alberta_Land_Use_Framework.pdf
- Government of Alberta (2009a). *Profile of the South Saskatchewan Region.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https:// www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/SSRP%20Profile%20of%20the%20South %20Saskatchewan%20Region%20Report-P1-2009-11.pdf
- Government of Alberta (2009b). *Terms of Reference for Developing the South Saskatchewan Region.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https://landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/ SSRP_Terms_of_Reference_for_Developing_the_South_Saskatchewan_Region _Report-P1-2009-11.pdf
- Government of Alberta. (2010a). *Lower Athabasca Regional Plan phase 2 workbook summary.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https://www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/

LARP_Phase_2_Workbook_Summary-P2-2010-12.pdf Report number: 978-0-7785-9244-0

Government of Alberta. (2010b). *South Saskatchewan Regional Plan workbook results* (Report no. 978-0-7785-9165-8). Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https://www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/ SSRP_Phase_1_South_Saskatchewan_Regional_Workbook_Results_Summary -P1-2010-07.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2010c). *Summary of public input* (Report no. 978-0-7785-9163-4). Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https://www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/ SSRP_Phase_1_Summary_of_Public_Input-P1-2010-07.pdf

- Government of Alberta. (2010d). *Summary of Stakeholder input* (Report no. 978-0-7785-9161-0). Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land Use Framework website: https://www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/ SSRP_Phase_1_Summary_of_Stakeholder_Input-P1-2010-07.pdf
- Government of Alberta. (2011a). *Content of regional plans.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-Use Framework website: https://landuse.alberta.ca/ ALSA/ContentofRegionalPlans/Pages/default.aspx
- Government of Alberta. (2011b). *Contributing to land-use planning.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-Use Framework website: https://landuse.alberta.ca/ Planning/WhyLandusePlanning/ContributingLandusePlanning/Pages/ default.aspx
- Government of Alberta. (2011c). *How will regional planning work?* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-Use Framework website: https://landuse.alberta.ca/ ALSA/ALSAFAQs/Pages/default.aspx
- Government of Alberta. (2012). *Cumulative effects management.* Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Environment website: http://environment.alberta.ca/ 0891.html
- Herrschel, T., & Newman, P. (2002). *Governance of Europe's city regions: planning, policy and politics*. London, UK: Routledge.

- Hesse-Biber, S. N., & Leavy, P. (2011). *The practice of qualitative research* (Second ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Hodge, G. (2004). Regional planning: The cinderella discipline. *Plan Canada 75th Anniversary*. Retrieved from http://www.cip-icu.ca/web/la/en/pa/ 69c90db7b094afdbee068be83818d14/template.asp
- Hodge, G., & Robinson, I. M. (2001). *Planning Canadian regions*. Vancouver, BC: UBC Press.
- Hulchanski, J. D. (1981). The origins of urban land use planning in Alberta: 1900-1945. Toronto, ON: Centre for Urban and Community Studies.
- Huitema, D., Mostert, E., Egas, W., Moellenkamp, S., & Pahl-Wostl, C. (2009). Adaptive water governance: Assessing the institutional prescriptions of adaptive (co-) management from a governance perspective and defining a research agenda. *Ecology and Society, 14*(1), 26-44.
- Jackson, L. S. (2001). Contemporary public involvement: Toward a strategic approach. *Local Environment, 6*(2), 135-147.
- Jones, B. (1999). Policy lessons from the evolution of a community-based approach to wildlife management, Kunene Region, Namibia. *Journal of International Development, 11*, 295-305.
- Kelly, M., & Sturgess, K. (2010). Water management in Southern Alberta: Key opportunities for water storage, allocation, flood and drought management.
 Retrieved from the Alberta Society for Sustainable Water Management and Related Technologies website: http://www.albertawatersmart.com/Report-final.pdf
- Margerum, R. D. (1999). Integrated environmental management: The foundations for successful practice. *Environmental Management*, *24*(2), 151-166.
- Margerum, R. D. (2011). *Beyond consensus*. Cambridge, MA: The Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press.
- McGinnis, M. V., Woolley, J., & Gamman, J. (1999). Bioregional conflict resolution: Rebuilding community in watershed planning and organizing. *Environmental Management, 24*(1), 1-12.

- Morin, A., & Cantin, B. (2009). *Strengthening integrated water resource management in Canada*. Retrieved from http://www.mendeley.com/research/water-resource-management-canada-discussion-paper/
- Natcher, D. C., & Hickey, C. G. (2002). Putting the community back into communitybased resource management: a criteria and indicators approach to sustainability *Human Organization, 61*(4), 350-361.
- Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act, Revised Statutes of Canada (1985, c. P-17). Retrieved from the Department of Justice Canada website: http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/ PDF/P-17.pdf
- Robinson, I. M., & Webster, D. R. (1985). Regional planning in Canada: History, practice, issues, and prospects. *Journal of the American Planning Association, 51* (1), 23-33.
- Rydin, Y., & Pennington, M. (2000). Public participation and local environmental planning: The collective action problem and the potential of social capital. *Local Environment, 5*(2), 153-169.
- Silverman, D., & Marvasti, A. (2008). *Doing qualitative research: A comprehensive guide*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council (2011). Advice to the Government of Alberta for the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Retrieved from the Government of Alberta Land-use Framework website: https:// www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/SSRP%20RAC%20Advice%20to%20the %20Government%20of%20Alberta%20for%20the%20South%20Saskatchewan %20Regional%20Plan%20Report-P2-2011-03.pdf
- Spiro-Mabee, H., & Hoberg, G. (2006). Equal partners? assessing co-management of forest resources in Clayoquot Sound. *Society and Natural Resources*, 19, 875-889.
- The Praxis Group. (2007). Land-Use Framework workbook summary report. Retrieved from the the Government of Alberta Land-Use Framework website: https:// www.landuse.alberta.ca/Documents/LUF_Landuse_Framework_Workbook_Summary%20Report-2007-10.pdf

- Tomalty, R., Gibson, R. B., Alexander, D. H. M., & Fisher, J. (1994). *Ecosystem Planning for Canadian urban regions.* Toronto, ON: ICURR Publications.
- Vander-Ploeg, C. G. (2010). From H20: Turning Alberta's water headache to opportunity. Retrieved from http://cwf.ca/publications-1/from-h20-turning-alberta-s-water-headache-into-opportunity
- Weaver, C. (1982). From drought assistance to megaprojects: Fifty years of regional theory and policy in Canada. *The Canadian Journal of Regional Science, 1,* 5-37.
- Western Stock Growers' Association. (2010). WSGA white paper on Land Use Framework and SSRP. Retrieved from Western Stock Growers' Association website: http://www.wsga.ca/pdf/luf.pdf
- Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation Initiative. (2012). Alberta Land-use Framework and Advice of South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Cmmittee. Retrieved from the Yellowstone to Yukon Conservation website: http://y2y.net/our-work/files-ourwork/y2y-comments-on-ssrac-advice